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Under the Euro Medium Term Note programme (the “Programme”) described in this base prospectus (the “Base Prospectus”), Immobel SA (the “Issuer”) may from
time to time issue notes (the “Notes”) denominated in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined below).

Notes will be issued in dematerialised form in accordance with the Belgian Companies and Associations Code, as amended or superseded, and will be represented by
a book entry in the records of the securities settlement system operated by the National Bank of Belgium (the “NBB”) or any successor thereto (the “NBB Securities
Settlement System”). The maximum aggregate nominal amount of all Notes from time to time outstanding under the Programme will not exceed EUR 325,000,000
(or its equivalent in other currencies calculated as described in the Programme Agreement described herein), subject to increase as described herein. The Notes may
be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified under “Overview of the Programme” and any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme
from time to time by the Issuer (each a “Dealer” and together the “Dealers”), which appointment may be for a specific issue of Notes or on an ongoing basis.
References in this Base Prospectus to the “relevant Dealer” shall, in the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to be) subscribed by more than one Dealer, be to
all Dealers agreeing to subscribe such Notes.

This Base Prospectus has been approved as a base prospectus by the Belgian Financial Services and Markets Authority (Autorité des Services et Marchés
Financiers/Autoriteit voor Financiéle Diensten en Markten) (the “FSMA”) on 1 June 2021, as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended
from time to time (the “Prospectus Regulation”). The FSMA only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and
consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Approval by the FSMA should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuer or of the quality of the Notes.
Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

Application has been made to Euronext Brussels for Notes issued under the Programme to be listed and admitted to trading on the regulated market of Euronext
Brussels. References in this Base Prospectus to Notes being “listed” (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been listed on Euronext Brussels and
admitted to trading on the regulated market of Euronext Brussels. The regulated market of Euronext Brussels is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in
Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2014/65/EU). The Programme furthermore provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on
such other or further stock exchanges or markets as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

This Base Prospectus is valid for 12 months from its date of approval, being until 1 June 2022, in relation to Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a
regulated market in the European Economic Area (the “EEA”) and/or offered to the public in the EEA other than in circumstances where an exemption is
available under Article 1(4) and/or Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Regulation. The obligation to supplement this Base Prospectus in the event of a significant
new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy does not apply when this Base Prospectus is no longer valid.

The requirement to publish a prospectus under the Prospectus Regulation only applies to Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the EEA
and/or offered to the public in the EEA other than in circumstances where an exemption is available under Article 1(4) and/or Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Regulation.
References in this Base Prospectus to “Exempt Notes” are to Notes for which no prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus Regulation. The FSMA
has neither approved nor reviewed information contained in this Base Prospectus in connection with Exempt Notes.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and certain other information which is applicable
to each Tranche (as defined under “7”) of Notes will (other than in the case of Exempt Notes) be set out in a final terms document (the “Final Terms”) which will be
filed with the FSMA and, where listed, Euronext Brussels. The Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted to trading on any market. Copies of
Final Terms in relation to Notes to be listed on Euronext Brussels will also be published on the website of the Issuer
(https://www.immobelgroup.com/en/publications/update-emtn-programme-2019). In the case of Exempt Notes, notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes,
interest (if any) payable in respect of the Notes, the issue price of the Notes and certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche will be set out in a
pricing supplement (the “Pricing Supplement”).

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act™) or any U.S. State securities laws and may
not be offered or sold in the United States or to, or for the account or the benefit of, U.S. persons as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act unless an
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act is available and in accordance with all applicable securities laws of any state of the United States
and any other jurisdiction. Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will be disclosed in the Final
Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes). A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension,
reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Notes issued under this Programme constitute unsecured debt instruments. By subscribing to the Notes, investors lend money to the Issuer who
undertakes to pay interest and to reimburse the principal amount on the maturity date. In case of insolvency or default by the Issuer, investors may not
recover all amounts they are entitled to and risk losing all or part of their investment. Investing in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain
risks and may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each prospective investor must carefully consider whether it is suitable for that investor to
invest in the Notes and should, if required, obtain professional advice. Before making an investment decision, prospective investors should read the Base
Prospectus in its entirety and, in particular, the risk factors described under the section headed “Risk Factors”, setting out certain risks in relation to an
investment in the Notes including the risk factors “The allocation of the proceeds of Green Notes to Eligible Assets by the Issuer may not meet investor
expectations and may not be aligned with future guidelines and/or regulatory or legislative criteria, which could adversely affect the value of the Green Notes”
and “The COVID-19 pandemic could materially adversely affect the Issuer’s business, performance and financial condition”). See pages 15 to 33 for a

description of the risk factors.

Co-Arrangers

Belfius Bank SA/NV BNP Paribas Fortis SA/NV
Dealers
Bank Degroof Petercam SA/NV BNP Paribas Fortis SA/NV
Belfius Bank SA/NV KBC Bank NV

The date of this Base Prospectus is 1 June 2021.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This Base Prospectus comprises a base prospectus in respect of all Notes other than Exempt Notes issued
under the Programme for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation. When used in this Base
Prospectus, Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended from time to time.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus and the Final Terms
for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer, the
information contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything
likely to affect the import of such information.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated
in it by reference (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference”). This Base Prospectus shall be read and
construed on the basis that those documents are incorporated and form part of this Base Prospectus.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see “Documents
Incorporated by Reference”), the information on the websites to which this Base Prospectus refers does not
form part of this Base Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the FSMA.

The Dealers have not independently verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no
representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is
accepted by the Dealers as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or incorporated in
this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the Programme.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer to give any information or to make any representation not
contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with
the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied
upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any of the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any
Notes (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be considered as a
recommendation by the Issuer or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any other
information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each
investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial
condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. Neither this Base
Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue of any Notes
constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of the Dealers to any person to subscribe
for or to purchase any Notes in any jurisdiction where it is unlawful to make the offer or the invitation in
such jurisdiction.

None of the Dealers or the Issuer makes any representation to any investor in the Notes regarding the legality
of its investment under any applicable laws. Any investor in the Notes should be able to bear the economic
risk of an investment in the Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any
circumstances imply that the information contained in it concerning the Issuer is correct at any time
subsequent to its date or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as
of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Dealers expressly do
not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the Programme or to
advise any investor in Notes issued under the Programme of any information coming to their attention. If at
any time during the duration of the Programme there is a significant new factor, material mistake or material
inaccuracy relating to information contained in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the
assessment of any Notes and whose inclusion in or removal from this Base Prospectus is necessary for the
purpose of allowing an investor to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial



position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer, the rights attaching to the Notes and the reasons for
the issuance of the Notes and its impact on the Issuer, the Issuer shall prepare an amendment or supplement
to this Base Prospectus or publish a replacement Base Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent
offering of the Notes. In case of an offer of Notes to the public, investors who have already agreed to purchase
or subscribe for the Notes before a supplement is published, shall have the right, exercisable within three
working days after the publication of the supplement, to withdraw their acceptances, provided that the
significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy referred to above arose or was noted before
the closing of the offer period or the delivery of the relevant Notes, whichever occurs first. The final date of
the right of withdrawal shall be stated in the supplement.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared in English. The Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, Pricing
Supplement) relating to a particular Tranche of Notes will be prepared in English. For Notes which have a
denomination of less than EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) and which are not Exempt
Notes, a summary will be prepared in English and will be annexed to the applicable Final Terms in
accordance with Articles 8 j° 7 of the Prospectus Regulation. To the extent required by Article 27 of the
Prospectus Regulation, a translation of the summary will be prepared. For Non-Exempt Offers in Belgium,
the summary shall, pursuant to Article 9 of the Belgian Law of 11 July 2018 on the offer of investments
instruments to the public and the admission to trading on a regulated market, be translated either in French
and Dutch, or, if the marketing materials and other documents and notices are disseminated in French or
Dutch only, in that language only. The Issuer will be responsible for the consistency between the different
language versions. In case of a discrepancy between the different language versions of the summary, the
English version shall prevail. For the avoidance of doubt, Noteholders may, in their contractual relationship
with the Issuer in relation to their investment in the Notes only, rely on the translation of the relevant
summary as well.

IMPORTANT - PRIIPS REGULATION / PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL
INVESTORS - If the Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) in respect of any
Notes includes a legend entitled “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors”, the Notes are not intended
to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to, and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made
available to, any Retail Investor in the EEA. For these purposes, a “Retail Investor” means a person who is
one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as
amended, “MiFID II”); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the “Insurance
Distribution Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point
(10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation.
Consequently, the Issuer has not prepared a key information document required by Regulation (EU) No
1286/2014 (as amended, the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making
them available to Retail Investors in the EEA and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making
them available to any Retail Investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered,
sold or otherwise made available to, and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to, any UK
Retail Investor in the United Kingdom (“UK?”). For these purposes, a “UK Retail Investor” means a person
who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565
as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“EUWA”); or (ii)
a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA
2000”) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA 2000 to implement the Insurance Distribution
Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article
2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a
qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the Prospectus Regulation as it forms part of domestic law by
virtue of the EUWA. Consequently, the Issuer has not prepared a key information document required by
Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs



Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to UK Retail Investors in
the UK and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any UK Retail
Investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

IMPORTANT - PROHIBITION OF SALES TO CONSUMERS - If the Prohibition of Sales to
Consumers is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of
Exempt Notes), the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to, and should not
be offered, sold or otherwise made available to, any consumer (consument/consommateur) within the
meaning of the Belgian Code of Economic Law (Wetboek van economisch recht/Code de droit économique),
as amended.

MiFID II product governance/target market — The Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of
Exempt Notes) in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled “MiFID II product governance” which
will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the
Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a
“distributor”) should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to
MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either
adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

The determination of the target market by the manufacturer or the distributor is the sole responsibility of the
relevant manufacturer or distributor.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the Product
Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the “MiFID Product Governance Rules”), any
Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Co-
Arrangers nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the
MIFID Product Governance Rules.

Notwithstanding the determination of the target market, any distributor should note that the price of the Notes
may fall and investors may lose all or part of their investment, that the Issuer may not be able to pay the
nominal amount at maturity or pay interests due. The determination of the target market is without prejudice
to the requirements of any contractual, legal or regulatory sales restrictions relating to the offering of the
Notes. For the avoidance of doubt, the determination of the target market cannot be considered as: (a) an
assessment of adequacy or appropriateness for the purposes of MiFID II or (b) a recommendation to any
investor or group of investors to invest in, purchase or take any other action in respect of the Notes.

Nothing in this Base Prospectus should be construed as limiting the protections given to potential investors
under mandatory investor protection rules, including such rules under MiFID II.

BENCHMARKS REGULATION

Amounts payable under the Floating Rate Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more
“benchmarks”. In this case, a statement will be included in the applicable Final Terms or Pricing Supplement
(as the case may be) as to whether or not the relevant administrator of the “benchmark” is included on the
European Securities and Markets Authority’s (“ESMA”) register of administrators and benchmarks
established and maintained pursuant to Article 36 of Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 (the “Benchmarks Regulation”). Certain “benchmarks” may
not fall within the scope of the Benchmarks Regulation by virtue of Article 2 of the Benchmarks Regulation
or the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the Benchmarks Regulation may apply to certain other
“benchmarks” which would otherwise be in scope of the Benchmarks Regulation such that at the date of the
applicable Final Terms or Pricing Supplement (as the case may be), the administrator of the “benchmark” is
not required to be included in the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by
ESMA because the administrator is at such time not required to obtain authorisation or registration (or, if
located outside the European Union, recognition, endorsement or equivalence).



The registration status of any administrator under the Benchmarks Regulation is a matter of public record
and, save where required by applicable law, the Issuer does not intend to update this Base Prospectus or the
relevant Final Terms to reflect any change in the registration status of the administrator.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE
PROSPECTUS AND OFFERS OF NOTES GENERALLY

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in
any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.
The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain
jurisdictions. The Issuer and the Dealers do not represent that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully
distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or
other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any
responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, unless specifically indicated to
the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no action has been taken by the Issuer or the Dealers which is
intended to permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction
where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly,
and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or
published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable
laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any Notes may come must
inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and
the offering and sale of Notes. In particular, there are restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus
and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States, the UK, Japan, Belgium, France and the EEA, see
“Subscription and Sale”.

PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION

Certain Defined Terms and Conventions

Capitalised terms which are used but not defined in any particular section of this Base Prospectus will have
the meaning attributed to them in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” or any other section of this Base
Prospectus.

In this Base Prospectus, all references to euro, EUR and € refer to the currency introduced at the start of the
third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the
European Union, as amended

Certain figures and percentages included in this Base Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments;
accordingly, figures shown in the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures
shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which precede them.

Alternative Performance Measures

Certain alternative performance measures (“APMs”) as described in the European Securities and Markets
Authority Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures (the “ESMA Guidelines”) published on
5 October 2015 by ESMA and which came into force on 3 July 2016 may be included or referred to in this
Base Prospectus. APMs are not defined in accordance with IFRS accounting standards and are used by the
Issuer within its financial publications to supplement disclosures prepared in accordance with other
regulations. These measures may provide useful information to enhance the understanding of financial
performance. The APMs should however be viewed as complementary to, rather than a substitute for, the
figures determined according to other regulatory measures.



SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENT

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes must
determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential
investor should, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional advisers:

i) make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the
information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable
supplement;

(i1))  assess the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the
Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii)  consider whether it has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an
investment in the Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies
or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor’s
currency;

(iv)  understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of financial markets;
and

(v)  evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment
and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain
investors are subject to investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each
potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are
legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other
restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal
advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable
risk-based capital or similar rules.

Potential investors should carefully review the section “Risk Factors™ of this Base Prospectus in order to
understand which risk factors are capable of affecting the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under the
Notes. Certain risk factors are of material importance for an assessment of the market risks associated with
an investment in the Notes. Potential investors are invited to form their own opinion with respect to the Issuer
as well as with respect to the conditions of any offer of Notes. The investors bear sole responsibility for the
assessment of the advantages and the risks associated with a subscription to the Notes. An investment
decision should be based on a comprehensive review by the investor of the entire Base Prospectus (including
any documents incorporated by reference therein). Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should
make its own independent assessment of the market conditions as well as of the condition and affairs, and
its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some statements in this Base Prospectus may be deemed to be forward looking statements. Forward looking
statements include statements concerning the Issuer’s plans, objectives, goals, strategies, future operations
and performance and the assumptions underlying these forward looking statements. When used in this Base

LR I3 LR N3 EEINT34 LRI 2 < LR I3

Prospectus, the words “anticipates”, “estimates”, “expects”, “believes”, “intends”, “plans”, “aims”, “seeks”,
“may”, “will”, “should” and any similar expressions generally identify forward looking statements. Where
applicable, the Issuer has based these forward looking statements on the current view of its management
with respect to future events and financial performance. Although the Issuer believes that the expectations,
estimates and projections reflected in its forward looking statements are reasonable as of the date of this
Base Prospectus, if one or more of the risks or uncertainties materialise, including those identified below or

which the Issuer has otherwise identified in this Base Prospectus, or if any of the Issuer’s underlying



assumptions prove to be incomplete or inaccurate, the Issuer’s actual results of operation may vary from
those expected, estimated or predicted.

The risks and uncertainties referred to above include:

° the Issuer’s ability to achieve and manage the growth of its business;
° the performance of the markets in Belgium and the wider region in which the Issuer operates;
° the Issuer’s ability to realise the benefits it expects from existing and future projects and investments

it is undertaking or plans to or may undertake;

° the Issuer’s ability to obtain external financing or maintain sufficient capital to fund its existing and
future investments and projects;

° changes in political, social, legal or economic conditions in the markets in which the Issuer and its
customers operate; and

° actions taken by the Issuer’s joint venture partners that may not be in accordance with its policies and
objectives.

Any forward looking statements contained in this Base Prospectus speak only as at the date of this Base
Prospectus. Without prejudice to any requirements under applicable laws and regulations, the Issuer
expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to disseminate after the date of this Base Prospectus any
updates or revisions to any forward looking statements contained in it to reflect any change in expectations
or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such forward looking statement is based.
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OVERVIEVW OF THE PROGRAMME

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by,
the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the Terms and Conditions of any particular Tranche
of Notes, the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement).
This overview must be read as an introduction in conjunction with the other parts of the Base Prospectus
(including any documents incorporated therein). Any decision to invest in the Notes should be based on a
consideration by the investor of the Base Prospectus as a whole.

The Issuer and any relevant Dealer may agree that Notes shall be issued in a form other than that
contemplated in the Conditions, in which event, in the case of Notes other than Exempt Notes, and if
appropriate, a new Base Prospectus or a supplement to the Base Prospectus will be published.

This overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 25(1) of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 (the “Delegated Regulation”).

Words and expressions defined in “Form of the Notes” and “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” shall have
the same meanings in this overview. Any reference to “applicable Final Terms” shall be deemed to include
a reference to the applicable Pricing Supplement, where relevant.

Issuer: Immobel SA, a limited liability company (société
anonyme/naamloze vennootschap) organised under the laws of
Belgium, having its registered office at Rue de la Régence 58,
1000 Brussels, Belgium and registered with the Crossroads Bank
of Enterprises (Banque-Carrefour des Entreprises/Kruispuntbank
van Ondernemingen) under the number 0405.966.675 (RLE
Brussels, French-speaking division).

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier 549300GAV4HKKFJASW67
(LEI):
Risk Factors: There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil

its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. In
addition, there are certain factors which are material for the
purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued
under the Programme and risks relating to the structure of a
particular Series of Notes issued under the Programme. All of
these are set out under “Risk Factors”.

Description: Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Co-Arrangers: Belfius Bank SA/NV
BNP Paribas Fortis SA/NV

Dealers: Bank Degroof Petercam SA/NV
Belfius Bank SA/NV
BNP Paribas Fortis SA/NV
KBC Bank NV
and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the
Programme Agreement.

Certain Restrictions: Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which
particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which
comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or



Paying Agent and Listing Agent:

Calculation Agent:

Programme Size:

Use of proceeds

Distribution:

Currencies:

Maturities:

Issue Price:

reporting requirements from time to time (see “Subscription and
sale™).

Belfius Bank SA/NV.

The Paying Agent (unless otherwise specified in the applicable
Final Terms).

Up to EUR 325,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies
calculated as described in the Programme Agreement) outstanding
at any time. The Issuer may increase the amount of the Programme
in accordance with the terms of the Programme Agreement.

The net proceeds of the Notes may be applied:

(a) for the financing of projects under development, the
potential acquisition of future projects and the re-
financing of existing indebtedness of the Group; or

(b) as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms, for any
other specific use, including to finance or re-finance
exclusively, in whole or in part, a portfolio of Eligible
Assets (as defined under section “Green Finance

Framework”).

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement
and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The
Notes will be issued in series (each a “Series”), the Notes of each
Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes
of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a
“Tranche”) on the same or different issue dates. The specific
terms of each Tranche (which will be completed, where necessary,
with the relevant Terms and Conditions and, save in respect of the
issue date, the issue price, the date of the first payment of interest
and the nominal amount of the Tranche, will in any case be
identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be
completed in the applicable Final Terms.

Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, Notes
may be denominated in euro and in any other currency the Euro
foreign exchange reference rate of which is published by the
European Central Bank agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealers. The currency of the Notes will be fixed in the applicable
Final Terms.

The Notes will have such maturities as may be agreed between the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer, subject to such minimum or
maximum maturities as may be allowed or required from time to
time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws
or regulations applicable to the Issuer or the relevant Specified
Currency.

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or, in the case of Exempt
Notes, a partly-paid, basis and at an issue price which is at par or
at a discount to, or premium over, par.
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Form of Notes:

Fixed Rate Notes:

The Notes will be issued in dematerialised form in accordance
with the Belgian Companies and Associations Code, as amended
or superseded, and will be represented by a book entry in the
records of the securities settlement system operated by the NBB
or any successor thereto (the “NBB Securities Settlement
System”). The Notes can be held by their holders through
participants in the NBB Securities Settlement System, including
Euroclear, Clearstream, SIX SIS, Monte Titoli, Interbolsa,
Euroclear France and LuxCSD and through other financial
intermediaries which in turn hold the Notes through Euroclear,
Clearstream, SIX SIS, Monte Titoli, Interbolsa, Euroclear France,
LuxCSD or other participants in the NBB Securities Settlement
System (for a list of all the NBB Securities Settlement System
participants, please refer to https://www.nbb.be/nl/list-nbb-
investor-icsds). The Notes are accepted for settlement through the
NBB Securities Settlement System, and are accordingly subject to
the applicable settlement regulations, including the Belgian law of
6 August 1993 on transactions in certain securities, as amended,
its implementing Belgian Royal Decrees of 26 May 1994 and 14
June 1994, as amended, and the rules of the NBB Securities
Settlement System and its annexes, as issued or modified by the
NBB from time to time. The Noteholders will not be entitled to
exchange the Notes into bearer form.

Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) (as indicated
in the applicable Final Terms) and on redemption and will be
calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) (as indicated
in the applicable Final Terms).
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Floating Rate Notes:

Zero Coupon Notes:

Exempt Notes:

Denomination of Notes:

Taxation:

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:

(a) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional
interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified
Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the
2006 ISDA Definitions (as published by the International
Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as the same
may be amended and supplemented as at the Issue Date
of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series); or

(b) on the basis of the reference rate set out in the applicable
Final Terms.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of each Interest Period,
as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s),
will be payable on such Interest Payment Dates, and will be
calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction, as may be
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and as will
be indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) for each Series of
Floating Rate Notes and will be indicated in the applicable Final
Terms.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a
minimum interest rate or both (as indicated in the applicable Final
Terms).

Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at a discount or at a
premium to their nominal amount and will not bear interest.

The Issuer may issue Exempt Notes.

The Issuer may agree with any Dealer that Exempt Notes may be
issued in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes, in which event the relevant provisions will be included
in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) save that the
minimum denomination of each Note will be such amount as may
be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central
bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to
the relevant Specified Currency and save that the minimum
denomination of each Note will be €1,000 (or, if the Notes are
denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount
in such currency).

If the Tax Call Option and the Prohibition of Sales to Consumers
are specified as not applicable in the applicable Final Terms, all
payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer in
respect of the Notes shall be made free and clear of, and without
withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or
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Negative Pledge:

Cross Default:

Optional Redemption:

Early Redemption:

Status of the Notes:

governmental and clear of, and without withholding or deduction
for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental.

If both the Tax Call Option and the Prohibition of Sales to
Consumers are specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, all payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of
the Issuer in respect of the Notes will be made without deduction
for or on account of withholding taxes imposed by any Tax
Jurisdiction as provided in Condition 7 (Taxation). In the event
that any such deduction is made, the Issuer will, save in certain
limited circumstances provided in Condition 7 (Taxation), be
required to pay additional amounts to cover the amounts so
deducted.

The terms of the Notes will contain a negative pledge provision as
further described in Condition 3 (Negative Pledge).

The terms of the Notes will contain a cross default provision as
further described in Condition 10 (Events of Default).

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state
whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity
at the option of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) or at the
option of the Noteholders and/or for taxation reasons and, if so,
the terms applicable to such redemption.

If the Change of Control Put Option is specified as applicable in
the applicable Final Terms, the holders of the Notes may request
redemption of their Notes upon the occurrence of a Change of
Control (as defined in the Conditions) subject to the terms set out
in the Conditions.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption and
purchase”.

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the relevant
Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than
following an Event of Default) or that such Notes will be
redeemable as provided under paragraph “Optional Redemption”
above, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to
such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such other
terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).

See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption and
purchase”.

The Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated
and (subject to the provisions of Condition 3 (Negative Pledge))
unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will rank pari passu
among themselves and (save for certain obligations required to be
preferred by law) equally with all other unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, from time to time
outstanding.
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Rating:

Listing and admission to trading:

Governing Law and submission
to jurisdiction:

Selling Restrictions:

Tranches of Notes will be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of
Notes is to be rated, such rating will be specified in the applicable
Final Terms. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy,
sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction
or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Application has been made to Euronext Brussels for the Notes
issued under the Programme to be listed and admitted to trading
on the regulated market of Euronext Brussels. As specified in the
applicable Final Terms, a Series of Notes may be unlisted.

The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the relevant
Notes are to be listed and/or admitted to trading and, if so, on
which stock exchanges and/or markets.

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with the Notes will be governed by, and shall be
construed in accordance with, Belgian law. The courts of Brussels,
Belgium have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which
may arise out of or in connection with the Notes and any non-
contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the
Notes. If the Prohibition of Sales to Consumers is specified as not
applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the submission to
jurisdiction is without prejudice to Article 624, 1°, 2° and 4° of
the Belgian Judicial Code.

Offers and sales of Notes may be restricted. In particular, there are
restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the
offer and sale of Notes in the EEA, the United States, Belgium,
the UK, France and Japan and on the offer and sale of Notes to
consumers (consumenten/consommateurs) within the meaning of
the Belgian Code of Economic Law (Wetboek Economisch
Recht/Code de droit économique) and/or to “Retail Investors” in
the EEA and/or “UK Retail Investors” in the UK, as may be
specified in the applicable Final Terms. See “Subscription and
Sale” below.

The Issuer is Category 1 for the purposes of Regulation S under
the Securities Act.
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RISK FACTORS

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes.
All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur. Factors which the Issuer believes may
be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the Notes issued under the
Programme are also described below.

Prospective investors should note that the risks relating to the Issuer and the Notes summarised in the
summary annexed to the Final Terms for that particular issue of Notes are the risks that the Issuer believes
to be the most essential to an assessment by a prospective investor of whether to consider an investment in
such Notes. However, as the risks which the Issuer faces relate to events and depend on circumstances that
may or may not occur in the future, prospective investors should consider not only the information on the
key risks summarised in the summary annexed to the Final Terms but also, among other things, the risks and
uncertainties described below.

In purchasing Notes, investors assume the risk that the Issuer may become insolvent or otherwise be
unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. There is a wide range of factors which individually
or together could result in the Issuer becoming unable to make all payments due. Although the Issuer believes
that the risks and uncertainties described below represent all material risks and uncertainties considered
relevant on the date of publication of this Base Prospectus for the Issuer’s business, it is not possible to
identify all such factors or to determine which factors are most likely to occur, as the Issuer may not be
aware of all relevant factors and certain factors which it currently deem not to be material may become
material as a result of the occurrence of events outside the Issuer’s control. The Issuer has identified in this
Base Prospectus a number of factors which could materially adversely affect its businesses and ability to
make payments due.

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base Prospectus
(including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and should reach their own views prior to
making any investment decision with respect to any Notes. Furthermore, before making an investment
decision with respect to any Notes, prospective investors should consult their own stockbroker, bank
manager, lawyer, auditor or other financial, legal and tax advisers and carefully review the risks associated
with an investment in the Notes and consider such an investment decision in light of the prospective investor’s

own circumstances.

The risk factors have been presented in a number of categories depending on their nature. In accordance
with the Prospectus Regulation, the most material risk factors in each category, in the assessment of the
Issuer, taking into account the negative impact on the Issuer and the probability of their occurrence, have
been set out first.

Terms defined in the Conditions shall have the same meaning where used below. References to the “Group”
are to the Issuer and its subsidiaries from time to time.

RISK FACTORS SPECIFIC TO THE ISSUER

Risks related to the Issuer’s business activities and industries

Delays and difficulties in the Issuer’s development projects (especially in relation to permitting) may impact
the results and financial condition of the Issuer.

Development projects tend to be subject to a variety of risks, each of which could cause late delivery of a
project and, consequently, increase the development period leading up to its contemplated sale, trigger a
budget overrun, lead to breaches of contractual obligations, cause a loss or decrease of expected income from
a project or even, in some cases, its actual termination.

The Group typically acquires land to develop its projects without any required permits being granted up
front. The Group’s projects are therefore subject to the risk of changes in the relevant urban planning
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requirements and regulations and environmental and, most importantly, construction permits being obtained
in a form consistent with the project plan and concept. The realisation of any project may, therefore, be
adversely affected by (i) the failure to obtain, maintain or renew necessary permits, (ii) delays in obtaining,
maintaining or renewing relevant permits and (iii) the failure to comply with the terms and conditions of the
permits. Furthermore, a permit may be subject to an appeal by an interested party. Any such procedure could
further delay the development and, ultimately, the sale of a project and negatively impact the financial
condition of the Group. Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, various projects of the Group have
encountered and may continue (for a period of time which cannot yet be determined given the current status
of the COVID-19 pandemic) to encounter significant delays, due to, amongst others, suspensions in the
permitting process and/or unavailability of staff, contractors and supplies which could lead to, for example,
delays in the delivery of the projects, following which penalties might be due or other sanction mechanisms
(such as break-costs in case long-stop dates for handovers are not respected) might apply. Please also refer
to risk factor “The COVID-19 pandemic could materially adversely affect the Issuer’s business, performance
and financial condition” below.

As at 31 December 2020, 2.8% of the Group’s development portfolio was fully sold, 15.6% of the Group’s
total development portfolio was operational and 81.6% of the Group’s total development portfolio was either
not yet operational or/and had not yet obtained a permit. For an overview of the current status of the most
important development projects of the Group, please refer to paragraph 7 — ‘Business overview — Overview
of the development portfolio’ in the section “Description of the Issuer”.

Other factors which may have an impact on the development of the Group’s projects are delays resulting
from, amongst other things, adverse weather conditions, work disputes, construction processes, issues with
counterparties, shortages of equipment or construction materials, accidents or unforeseen technical
difficulties and destruction of projects. Please also refer to risk factor “The Issuer’s development and/or
investment activities may be adversely impacted by failure by counterparties to honour their obligations
and/or disagreement with partners or co-investors” below.

Taking into account these risks, the Issuer does not have the full assurance that all its development projects
(1) can be completed in the expected timeframe, (ii) can be completed within the expected budgets or (iii) can
be completed at all. If any of the risks highlighted above materialises and adversely impacts the successful
development of projects, this could have an impact on the delivery time for a project and/or its completion
cost, which in both cases will impact the profitability of the project, and may consequently have a material
adverse effect on the Issuer’s results, financial condition and prospects.

The COVID-19 pandemic could materially adversely affect the Issuer s business, performance and financial
condition.

Since its outbreak in December 2019, the COVID-19 pandemic has spread globally and governments have
taken various measures to mitigate the further spread and rate of infections such as mandatory social
distancing, travel restrictions, closures of stores and workplaces, imposition of quarantines and even
lockdowns. This has had an adverse impact on the business activities of the Group, and may continue to
have, an adverse effect on the economy and the business activities of the Group in the countries where it
operates (see page 68 of the annual report of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2020).

The Group’s projects have faced and may continue to face significant delays due to, amongst others,
suspensions in the permitting process and/or unavailability of staff, its contractors and supplies which could
lead to, for example, delays in delivery of the projects following which penalties might be due or other
sanction mechanisms (such as break-costs in case long stop dates for handovers are not respected) might
apply. The lockdown measures have furthermore led to a slowdown in sales. The above-mentioned factors
have impacted the Group’s profit and loss financial indicators of 2020 (see page 69 of the annual report of
the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2020). The Group realised 10% fewer sales in 2020 compared to
its objectives (see page 70 of the annual report of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2020). Certain

16



permitting procedures have encountered significant delays (due to a temporary suspension and reduced
follow-up), which resulted in fewer new real estate projects being permitted in 2020 (see page 70 of the
annual report of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2020). Various authorities are still facing a very
charged agenda as concerns all steps of the permitting procedures.

The Group’s projects may continue to be delayed, and also the sale thereof, which may negatively impact
the exit value. The Issuer’s counterparties, such as contractors, architects and purchasers of presold projects
may face financial difficulties and may not be able to honour their obligations which may lead to an increase
of project costs and for the Issuer not being able to (timely) deliver the projects. (Future) tenants may face
financial difficulties and request rent deferrals and reductions. Overall demand and yield expectations may
change and the value of the Group’s property may need to be adjusted as a result of COVID-19 uncertainty.
Volatile capital markets and/or reduced liquidity with banks could also make funding for the Group more
expensive or more difficult to obtain.

It is unclear how the expansion of the home office will affect the demand for office properties in the medium
(and long) term. It cannot be excluded that the trends towards flexible office space rentals and co-working
could have an even stronger impact on the office market in the future. As at 31 December 2020, 28% (in
terms of investments) of the Group’s portfolio consisted of office properties. For an overview of the
composition of the Issuer’s property development portfolio, please refer to paragraph 7 — ‘Business overview
— Overview of the development portfolio’ in the section “Description of the Issuer”.

While the Issuer has proactively taken various measures to mitigate the impact of COVID-19, the extent of
the further impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s operations will depend on various uncertain factors,
including without limitation, the duration and severity of the pandemic, the (un)availability of a vaccine and
the nature and duration of further regulatory actions taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Any of the above factors could, especially if the COVID-19 pandemic were to continue or worsen, impact
the Group’s ability to complete and sell the projects in its development portfolio and consequently, have a
significant adverse effect on the Group’s business, assets, financial condition, cash flow and results of
operations, which may in turn impair the ability of the Issuer to fulfil its obligations under the Notes.

Changes to market conditions in the markets where the Issuer’s portfolio is located may adversely impact
the value of the portfolio and consequently, the financial position of the Issuer.

The Issuer’s revenues depend to a large extent on the volume and the exit value of its real estate projects.
Hence, the results of the Issuer can fluctuate significantly from year to year depending on the number of
projects that can be brought to the market for disposal and their ultimate exit value.

In this respect, the Issuer is exposed to the national and international economic conditions and other events
and occurrences that affect the markets in which the Issuer’s property development portfolio is located: the
office property market in Belgium (mainly in Brussels), Luxembourg, Poland and France; the residential
(apartments and plots) property market in Belgium, Luxembourg, Germany, Poland and France, and the
leisure market in Spain. For an overview of recent developments in the markets in which the Group is active,
please refer to paragraph 7 — ‘Business overview — Market description’ in the section “Description of the
Issuer” and for an overview of the composition and location of the Issuer’s property development portfolio,
please refer to paragraph 7 — ‘Business overview — Overview of the development portfolio’ in the section
“Description of the Issuer”.

Changes in the principal macroeconomic indicators (such as the gross domestic product) or a general
economic slowdown in one or more of the Issuer’s markets, or on a global scale including as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic (please also refer to risk factor “The COVID-19 pandemic could materially adversely
affect the Issuer s business, performance and financial condition” above) could result in a lower demand for
office buildings, residential property or building plots, higher vacancy rates and higher risk of default of
service providers, building contractors, tenants and other counterparties. Such changes may in particular
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impact the Group’s projects with a longer lead time — as at 31 December 2020, 28% of the projects in the
Group’s portfolio were expected to be delivered in one to three years, 40% was expected to be delivered in
four to five years, 28% in six to ten years and 4% in more than ten years.

The Group mainly has projects located in Belgium which accounted for 52% of the Group’s total
development portfolio as at 31 December 2020 (compared to 53% of the Group’s total development portfolio
as at 31 December 2019). Furthermore, the Group mainly develops projects in the residential segment, which
accounted for 72% of the Group’s total development portfolio as at 31 December 2020 (compared to 74%
of the Group’s total development portfolio as at 31 December 2019) and (to a lesser extent) in the office
segment, which accounted for 28% of the Group’s total development portfolio as at 31 December 2020
(compared to 26% as at 31 December 2019). This limited diversification in terms of geography and
development segment subjects the Group to concentration risk. For an overview of recent developments in
the Group’s activities, please refer to paragraph 7 — ‘Business overview — History and development’ in the
section “Description of the Issuer”.

Furthermore, there is no certainty that, once on the market, the Issuer will find a buyer for a project or that
the transfer occurs at appropriate or expected conditions. The Issuer could also experience difficulties in the
search for suitable tenants of its projects it wishes to lease and in relation to the follow-up of the leases before
a disposal of a project. Finally, the Issuer has some projects where an asset under development is preleased
or pre-sold to a third party and where the Issuer could incur substantial liabilities and be subject to legal
actions and claims if and when such projects are not completed within the pre-agreed timeline. As at
31 December 2020, the Group had approximately 1,600,000 square meters of projects under development in
its portfolio, including 476,255 square meters of projects currently under construction, of which 29.6% were
pre-sold.

Any of such risks could reduce revenues for the Group’s projects and the demand for these projects generally,
which could in turn materially adversely affect the value of the Issuer’s property portfolio and, consequently,
its financial position and development prospects. The materiality of this risk may be reinforced in respect of
Notes which have a longer maturity.

Failure to identify and secure sufficient interesting projects and/or at favourable conditions may result in
reduced income generation and loss of market share.

The Issuer may face difficulties in identifying a sufficient number or volume of interesting development
projects in its markets in a consistent manner every year to sustain its strategy and growth plans, including
the potential to acquire such projects on terms which it deems to be appropriate or acceptable. Such terms
are based on a combination of operational, financial, legal and other parameters, including, among others,
cost of acquisition, development potential, size of the project, location (with a target on prime locations),
leasing potential, (re)development costs, lead time, permitting risks, realisable IRR and profit margin (for
more information about the Issuer’s strategy, please refer to paragraph 6 — ‘Strategy’ in the section
“Description of the Issuer”). The geographical markets and segments in which the Issuer is active are very
competitive. High competition may drive the prices of land up and may put pressure on the sale prices upon
completion. Any failure by the Issuer to acquire a sufficient number of qualitative new development projects
may result in reduced income generation and loss of market share and may subsequently adversely affect the
Group’s business, financial position, results and prospects.

An inappropriate development and investment strategy and underlying assumptions and assessments may
impact demand and consequently the Issuer’s revenues.

When making strategic decisions on property development investments, the Issuer has to make certain
assessments and assumptions as to future economic conditions, market trends and other conditions, including
assessments and assumptions relating to the potential return on investment at the time of completion of a
project. For example, the Issuer aims to develop its projects in prime locations, which may evolve over time.
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The COVID-19 crisis and the inherent uncertainty around the potential impact thereof on the economy,
potential return, market trends and other conditions, could further exacerbate this risk. Please also refer to
risk factor “The COVID-19 pandemic could materially adversely affect the Issuer’s business, performance
and financial condition” above.

The risks relating to the correctness of the specific assessments and assumptions are a function of a number
of variables and may be even more imminent and material in relation to long-term projects, because it is
more difficult to predict such variables over an extended period of time. As at 31 December 2020, the average
time to delivery of the Group’s development projects (as a percentage of the equity invested) was split as
follows: 28% was delivered within one to three years, 40% was delivered within four to five years, 28% was
delivered between six to ten years and 4% was delivered after ten years.

In addition, the Issuer may not take into account all relevant factors to make an informed decision or the
Issuer’s assessments and assumptions may not be verified in practice.

Making the right strategic decisions on property development investments and making the right assessments
and assumptions about (future) market trends and conditions is a key factor for the success of the Issuer’s
business. If the Issuer makes the wrong strategic decision or uses the wrong or not all relevant factors or if
the assessments or assumptions do not prove to have been accurate, this may have an impact on the Issuer’s
revenues for its projects (through disposals or leases) and the demand for these projects generally, and, as a
result have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Changes in interest rates may have an impact on factors like the demand for and the yield of the Issuer’s
development projects.

A variation in the interest rates may have an impact on the demand for real estate as an asset class and for
the Issuer’s projects in the various segments in which it is active. On the office market, for instance, a
variation in the interest rate may also affect the yield used to compute the exit value of office real estate.
Furthermore, the Issuer’s development projects are in general subject to risks relating to interest rate
fluctuations, for example because of the impact thereof on construction costs due to increased costs on the
project financing. Any such changes may have a material impact on the capacity of the Issuer to sell its
projects at the expected returns and may also, with a delayed effect, have an impact on the value of the
Issuer’s property development portfolio. Please also refer to risk factor “Changes to market conditions in the
markets where the Issuer’s portfolio is located may adversely impact the value of the portfolio and
consequently, the financial position of the Issuer” above and note 25 (Information related to the net financial
debt) of the annual report of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2020. Any of these factors may have
an adverse impact on the Issuer’s business, results, financial condition or prospects.

The Issuer’s development and/or investment activities may be adversely impacted by failure by
counterparties to honour their obligations and/or disagreement with partners or co-investors.

In the context of its development activities, the Issuer is subject to the risk that a counterparty, such as a
purchaser of a pre-sold project, contractor, architect or other service provider, does not or does not timely
honour its contractual obligations. Although the Issuer pursues diversification as part of its counterparty
selection process and a monitoring of their performance, such inability of a counterparty to honour its
contractual obligations could have an impact on the Issuer’s planning and project costs, its capacity to
perform its own contractual obligations and, consequently, its operational or financial position (e.g. when a
general contractor does not abide by its contractual obligations, this could delay the construction works,
impact the planning and/or the project costs of the entire project and therefore its operational and financial
results). In addition, in case of insolvency of any contractors (or architects), this would significantly increase
the risk that the Group could be held liable under the ten-year civil liability under Belgian law, instead of
such contractors (or architects). Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and its general economic impact, the risk
of counterparty default has substantially increased. Please also refer to risk factor “The COVID-19 pandemic
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could materially adversely affect the Issuer’s business, performance and financial condition” above for more
information.

As part of its business strategy, the Issuer actively pursues joint investments in properties and assets with
third parties and intends to purchase and develop properties in joint ventures or partnerships with the sellers
of the properties, other developers or financial investors, in certain circumstances as a minority shareholder.
For further information on the strategy of the Issuer, please refer to paragraph 6 — ‘Strategy’ in the section
“Description of the Issuer”.

Joint ownership of properties may, under certain circumstances, involve additional risks, such as (i) the
possibility that the Issuer may incur liabilities as a result of actions taken by any such partner or co-investor
or their inability to honour their contractual obligations and (ii) the fact that the partners or co-investors in
the venture may have a difference of opinion in relation to the development or sale of the venture’s properties,
the strategy of the venture, its management or their rights upon termination or divestment of the venture.
Any such circumstances may result in subjecting the assets of the joint venture or partnership to unexpected
liabilities. Under these arrangements, the Issuer may not have the power to exercise control over the venture
and, under certain circumstances, a difference of opinion with its partner or co-investor may lead to an
impasse that may have, or result in, an adverse impact on the value of its asset(s), the operations and
profitability of the joint venture or partnership and, ultimately, the financial position of the Issuer.

The Issuer strongly relies on its key management and personnel and, in particular, on the Executive
Chairman and CEO of the Group, Mr Marnix Galle, and failure to retain and attract skilled managers or
personnel could negatively impact the financial condition and prospects of the Issuer.

The Issuer relies on its current executives and members of its managerial staff and key personnel who have
specific experience in the markets and business in which the Issuer operates to successfully execute its
business strategy. In particular, the Group strongly relies on the sector-specific knowledge, skills, experience,
network and seniority of Mr Marnix Galle, who serves both as Executive Chairman and CEO of the Group
and thus plays a crucial role in the development of the activities of the Group. If Mr Marnix Galle would no
longer control the Issuer and/or no longer play a significant role in the management of the Group, this could
lead to negative market or industry perception. Please also refer to the corporate governance statement set
out on page 82 of the Issuer’s annual report for the financial year ending 31 December 2020 and paragraph 11
— ‘Management and corporate governance’ in the section “Description of the Issuer” for more information.

Loss of its managerial staff and other key personnel, for example experienced personnel to develop the
Group’s projects, could adversely affect the Issuer’s performance and success. Furthermore, loss of
personnel renders it more difficult for the Group to develop standardised systems and to train its personnel,
which is crucial to ensure that projects are developed with the quality expected of high-end real estate
developers in the market.

In addition, the Issuer might find it difficult to recruit suitable employees having the relevant expertise, both
for expanding its operations and for replacing employees who may resign, or recruiting such suitable
employees may entail substantial costs both in terms of salaries and other incentive schemes. The unexpected
loss of the services of one or more of these key individuals (and, in particular, of Mr Marnix Galle) and any
negative market or industry perception arising from such loss could have a material adverse effect on the
Issuer’s business (and, in particular, its income generation, market share and governance) and could hence
negatively impact the results of operations, financial condition and prospects of the Issuer.

Concentration of power and conflicts of interest could adversely impact the interests of the Noteholders.

A concentration of significant decision-making powers in the hands of a limited number of people and
conflicts of interest could adversely impact the interests of various stakeholders including the noteholders.
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The Group strongly relies on certain key managers and in particular on the sector specific knowledge, skills,
experience and network of Mr Marnix Galle who is currently the Group’ main shareholder and combines the
functions of executive chairman and CEO of the group. The Group has put in place a corporate governance
structure with various policies with respect to dividends, diversity, compensation, reporting and risk
management. The Group has also put in place a decision-making structure with various management teams
and executive and advisory committees, such as the investment committee, audit and risk committee, etc.
(comprising a majority of independent members). The Issuer furthermore applies the corporate governance
rules (including the conflicts of interest procedure) as set out in of the Belgian Companies and Associations
Code and has adopted the Belgian Corporate Governance Code published on May 17, 2019.

Notwithstanding the various procedures and policies in place and even though the interests of Mr Galle and
the other stakeholders are to a certain extent aligned, the checks and balances may not be sufficient to prevent
that certain key individuals such as Mr Galle exercise a significant influence on the decision-making process
of the Issuer. This may not always be in the interest of the Group’s other stakeholders and could ultimately
impact the Group’s business, prospects or financial condition which could in turn have an adverse impact on
the Noteholders.

Risks related to the Issuer’s financial situation

The Issuer may be unable to maintain a sufficient liquidity level and/or attract and maintain the necessary
financing at favourable terms.

The development of the Group’s projects requires important investments which are primarily financed
through equity and credit facilities at the level of the development. For an overview of the current financing
arrangements of the Issuer, in particular the maturity profile of the financings, please refer to paragraph 9 —
‘Financing arrangements’ in the section “Description of the Issuer”.

The Group may not be able to renew the existing financing agreements or the existing financings may be
cancelled. The Group may furthermore be unable to attract new financing or to negotiate and enter into new
financing agreements on terms which are commercially desirable. This risk is more likely to materialise
and/or if it materialises may have a more significant impact on the Group in light of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Please also refer to risk factor “The COVID-19 pandemic could materially adversely affect the Issuer’s
business, performance and financial condition” above.

The Issuer’s Adjusted Gearing Ratio (as defined in the Conditions) amounted to 0.64 as at 31 December
2020 (compared to 0.64 at 31 December 2019) and the Adjusted Inventories / Net Financial Debt ratio (as
defined in the Conditions) amounted to 1.61 as at 31 December 2020 (compared to 1.56 at 31 December
2019).

The Issuer’s Net Financial Debt (as defined in the Conditions) amounted to EUR 802 million as at
31 December 2020 (compared to EUR 667 million at 31 December 2019). The Issuer’s Adjusted Inventories
(as defined in the Conditions) amounted to EUR 1,291 million as at 31 December 2020 (compared to EUR
1,040 million at 31 December 2019).

For an overview of the key financials of the Issuer, please refer to paragraph 3 — ‘Selected financial
information’ in the section “Description of the Issuer”.

The financial covenants set out in the Conditions differ, in certain respects, from the financial covenants
under certain previous bond offerings of the Issuer, including the EUR 100 million fixed rate bonds issued
by the Issuer on 1 June 2017 and the EUR 100 million fixed rate bonds issued by the Issuer on 17 October
2018. In particular, the adjusted gearing ratio in the abovementioned preceding bond offerings of the Issuer
was defined as the ratio of the Adjusted Consolidated Equity to the total assets of the consolidated (IFRS)
balance sheet of the Issuer, whereas the adjusted gearing ratio in the proposed Notes is defined as the ratio
of Net Financial Debt to the sum of Adjusted Consolidated Equity and Net Financial Debt. This means that
the adjusted gearing ratio in the proposed Notes is now defined in a way that takes into account the net
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financial debt that is situated in the joint ventures (pro rata to the Issuer’s stake in the joint ventures) and
does not take into account (i) the Issuer’s non-financial debt and (ii) the full amount of the Issuer’s financial
debt, as the cash and cash equivalents (trésoreries et équivalents de trésorerie/ geldmiddelen en
kasequivalenten) are deducted to determine the Net Financial Debt. In addition, the definition of Adjusted
Inventories (which is used for the calculation of the Adjusted Inventories/Net Financial Debt) has been
amended to include not only the “Inventories” but also the “Investment property” of the consolidated (IFRS)
balance sheet of the Issuer. The adjusted gearing ratio is now also presented in a reverse manner with a focus
on the amount of Net Financial Debt instead of the amount of Adjusted Consolidated Equity. Net Financial
Debt to Adjusted Consolidated Equity and Net Financial Debt can pursuant to the Conditions of the Notes
not exceed 0.80 to 1. Finally, it should be noted that the financial covenants of the Notes will be computed
on a “frozen GAAP” basis, which means that they will be computed on the basis of the accounting principles
and practices consistent with those applied in preparation of the Original Financial Statements.

In addition, other existing credit agreements of the Group also include certain covenants. A breach of any
such covenants may lead to an event of default under the relevant bonds or credit agreements and a cross
default under different financings, including the Notes. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer is
not in default under any of its financing arrangements.

For further information, please refer to note 25 (Information related to the net financial debt) of the annual
report of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2020,

If the Group is unable to maintain a sufficient liquidity level and/or secure the necessary financing against
favourable terms, the Group may be unable or face important challenges to make certain investments or
proceed with certain projects. This may have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’ cash flow and results.

The Issuer is, to a certain extent, dependent on the financial position of its subsidiaries.

Each project of the Group is in principle held by a separate legal entity whereby the Issuer is primarily the
holding company, in which case specific project financings may be contracted. Certain of these financing
agreements may include the benefit of security interests over the project assets as well as the provision of
guarantees or other forms of comfort granted by the Issuer for the obligations of the relevant subsidiary. The
latter comprise, amongst others, cash deficiency guarantees and cost overrun guarantees. Any trigger of these
guarantees, if not remedied or waived, could result in the Group being required to repay these borrowings
before their due date and/or to pay a substantial amount of money. Any issue in relation to such project
financings may, accordingly, have an impact on the distributions the Issuer may receive from its subsidiaries
and, ultimately, the Issuer’s ability to meet its financial obligations under the Notes.

For further information, please refer to note 17 (Investments in joint ventures and associates) of the annual
report of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2020. Please also refer to the risk factors entitled “The
Notes do not benefit from security or guarantees and will, in an insolvency scenario, be subordinated to any
current or future secured indebtedness of the Issuer and to any current or future (secured or unsecured)
indebtedness of the subsidiaries of the Issuer” and “The Issuer may not have the ability to repay the Notes
at their maturity or in case of an Event of Default, or to pay interests due” below.

Fluctuations in the Issuer’s interest rates could materially impact its financial results.

Given its current and future indebtedness, the Issuer is affected by a short or long-term change in interest
rates, by the credit margins taken by the banks and by the other financing conditions.

The Issuer’s financing is mainly provided on the basis of short-term interest rates (based on the Euribor rates
for one to twelve months), with the exception of certain bond issues which have a fixed rate. As at 31
December 2020, the Group’s short-term interest rate financings amounted to EUR 477,240,000. Short-term
project financing is not hedged. In case of acquisitions of projects of which the development will only start
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on a mid-long term and in relation to corporate financing, the Issuer will in principle enter into the financing
on a fixed-rate basis or hedge the relevant variable rate.

For further information, please also refer to paragraph 9 — ‘Financing arrangements’ in the section
“Description of the Issuer” and note 25 (Information related to the net financial debt) of the annual report
of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Legal and regulatory risks

Due to the nature and regulatory framework of the business in which it operates, the Issuer faces an
increased risk of liability for environmental issues regarding its property development portfolio.

The Issuer’s operations and property development portfolio are subject to various laws and regulations in
the countries in which it operates concerning the protection of the environment, including, but not limited
to, regulation of air, soil and water quality, controls of hazardous or toxic substances and guidelines regarding
health and safety. Due to the nature of the Issuer’s business and the significant liabilities which may
potentially arise from breaches of environmental laws, the Issuer faces an increased compliance risk with
respect to such laws and regulations.

The Issuer may be required to pay for clean-up costs (and, in specific circumstances, for aftercare costs) for
any contaminated property it currently owns or may have owned in the past. In addition, contaminated
properties may experience decreases in value. As a property developer, the Issuer may also be subject to
legal actions and claims, incur fines or other penalties for any lack of environmental compliance and may be
liable for remedial costs. Any of these risks may cause significant reputational damage to the Issuer (causing
decreased sales or a diminished ability to acquire interesting new development projects) and may have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, business and prospects of the Group.

The Issuer may be subject to litigation, including potential warranty claims relating to the lease,
development or sale of real estate.

In the normal course of the Issuer’s business, legal actions, claims against and by the Issuer and its
subsidiaries and arbitration proceedings involving the Issuer and its subsidiaries may arise. The Issuer is
specifically subject to numerous complex and fast evolving laws (including environmental laws) which may
give rise to various kinds of disputes. Furthermore, due to the nature of its business, the Issuer is involved in
dealings with a wide array of counterparties (sellers or purchasers of properties, tenants, contractors and
subcontractors, current or former employees...) or third parties which may initiate proceedings. Such
proceedings could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition, operating
results and prospects.

The Issuer may also be subject to warranty claims due to defects in quality or title relating to the leasing and
sale of its properties. This liability may apply to defects in properties that were unknown to the Issuer but
could have, or should have, been revealed. It may also be subject to legal actions and claims by purchasers
of its properties based on breaches of representations and warranties about those properties given by the
Issuer at the time of disposal.

Any such legal disputes may involve substantial claims for damages or other payments. There may also be
adverse publicity associated with litigation, regardless of whether the allegations are valid or whether the
Group is ultimately found liable. As a result, such proceedings could have an adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
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RISK FACTORS SPECIFIC TO THE NOTES

Risks relating to the Conditions

The Notes do not benefit from security or guarantees and will, in an insolvency scenario, be subordinated to
any current or future secured indebtedness of the Issuer and to any current or future (secured or unsecured)
indebtedness of the subsidiaries of the Issuer.

The right of the Noteholders to receive payment on the Notes is not secured or guaranteed. Upon a winding-
up of the Issuer or in case insolvency proceedings are brought in relation to the Issuer, the Notes will be
effectively subordinated to the secured indebtedness of the Issuer. Pursuant to the insolvency laws, secured
creditors of the Issuer will be paid out of the proceeds of the security they hold in priority to the holders of
the Notes. Upon a winding up or insolvency of the Issuer’s subsidiaries the Noteholder will be structurally
subordinated to any indebtedness of the subsidiaries of the Issuer. The creditors of such subsidiary will need
to be repaid in full prior to any distribution being possible to the Issuer as shareholder of such subsidiary. In
addition, the right of the Noteholders to obtain (full or partial) repayment of the Notes may be substantially
affected due to the application of any insolvency or reorganisation laws and procedures. Payments under the
Notes and enforcement measures are in principle suspended. Noteholders may also be forced to accept a
reorganisation plan on the basis of which their claims to obtain payment of principal and interest under the
Notes are significantly reduced, without their prior consent.

The below table comprises a breakdown overview of the secured and unsecured indebtedness of the Group
on a consolidated basis and at the level of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries on a standalone basis. Please note
that this overview excludes any debt at the level of the Excluded Entities (as defined in the Conditions),
which are accounted for under the equity method in the annual report of the Issuer. The indebtedness of the
Excluded Entities is however to a certain extent taken into account for the calculation of the financial
covenants set out in the Condition 8 (Covenants) and Condition 10 (Events of Default). For segment
information on the financial position of the Excluded Entities as at 31 December 2020, please refer to note 1
of the annual report of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2020.

In MEUR Issuer Subsidiaries Group
t
;Zj aDecem ber (on a c;’ons'o)lidated
2020 asis,
Secured Unsecured Secured Unsecured Secured Unsecured
debt debt debt debt
Bonds and | O 299 0 0 0 299
commercial
paper
Bank debt 67 24 354 0 421 24
TOTAL 67 323 354 0 421 323
Percentage 17% 83% 100% 0% 57% 43%

The Issuer may also incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future, including in connection with
future acquisitions of development projects, some of which may be secured by some or all of the Issuer’s
assets. Right of payment under the Notes might be subordinated to future additional indebtedness of the
Issuer which might be secured, whereas the Notes are unsecured.

24



If security is provided by the Issuer or any subsidiary (other than any Excluded Entity) in respect of any
present or future indebtedness in the form of or represented by any bond, debenture, debenture stock, loan
stock, certificate or other instrument which is, or is capable of being, listed, quoted or traded on any stock
exchange or in any securities market (including, without limitation, any over-the-counter-market), and as
long as any Note remains outstanding, the same or similar security is to be granted for the benefit of the
Noteholders pursuant to Condition 3 (Negative Pledge), as provided in more detail in the Conditions.

The Issuer is, however, not restricted from granting security for other indebtedness (including bank loans)
and it cannot be excluded that the Issuer would enter into secured bank loans in the future, which will then
benefit first from the proceeds from the enforcement of such security in the event of liquidation, dissolution,
reorganisation, bankruptcy or any other similar procedure affecting the Issuer. In addition, Excluded Entities
are also not restricted from granting security for any indebtedness (both bond and bank debt).

In case of a liquidation, dissolution, reorganisation, insolvency or similar procedures affecting the Issuer, the
creditors of the secured debt of the Issuer will, upon enforcement, be repaid in priority with the proceeds of
the assets of the Issuer and in case of insolvency or other similar procedures affecting the subsidiaries of the
Issuer; the Noteholders’ claims would be structurally subordinated to those of any secured and unsecured
creditors to the Issuer’s subsidiaries. In any such situation, the Noteholders’ ability to obtain full or partial
repayment may be prejudiced. The materiality of this risk may be reinforced in respect of Notes which have
a longer maturity.

The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates.

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that the price of such note falls as a result of changes in
market interest rates. While the interest rate of the Fixed Rate Note is fixed, the current interest rate on the
market (market interest rate) typically changes on a daily basis. As the market interest rate changes, the price
of a fixed rate note tends to evolve in the opposite direction. If the market interest rate increases, the price of
such note typically falls, until the yield of such note is approximately equal to the market interest rate.
Noteholders should therefore be aware that movements of the market interest rate can adversely affect the
price of the Fixed Rate Notes and can lead to losses for the Noteholders if they sell the Fixed Rate Notes.
The materiality of this risk may be reinforced in respect of Notes which have a longer maturity.

The allocation of the proceeds of Green Notes to Eligible Assets by the Issuer may not meet investor
expectations and may not be aligned with future guidelines and/or regulatory or legislative criteria, which
could adversely affect the value of the Green Notes.

The Final Terms relating to any specific Series of Notes may provide that such Notes will constitute green
notes (such notes, the “Green Notes”). In such case, it will be the Issuer’s intention to apply an amount
equal or equivalent to the net proceeds of such Notes to finance and/or re-finance, in whole or in part, new
or existing Eligible Assets (as defined under section “Green Finance Framework™ in the Base Prospectus).

The European Union is currently developing and has already adopted various sustainability related rules and
regulations, including the Regulation (EU) No 2020/852 on the establishment of a framework to facilitate
sustainable investment (the “EU Taxonomy”), establishing the criteria for determining whether an economic
activity qualifies as environmentally sustainable for the purposes of establishing the degree to which an
investment is environmentally sustainable. The EU Taxonomy is subject to further development through
delegated regulations. The European Commission launched on 12 June 2020 a public consultation on the
creation of an EU Green Bond Standard. In light of the continuing development of legal, regulatory and
market conventions in the green and sustainable market, there is a risk that the use of proceeds of any Green
Notes will not satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any such future legislative or regulatory requirements
(including the EU Taxonomy once applicable), or any present or future investor expectations or requirements
with respect to investment criteria or guidelines with which any investor or its investments are required to
comply under its own by-laws or other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates.
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While it is the intention of the Issuer to apply an amount equal or equivalent to the net proceeds of any Green
Notes in, or substantially in, the manner described under the section entitled “Use of Proceeds”, the
application of such amount to finance and/or refinance, in whole or in part, the relevant Eligible Assets, may
not be capable of being implemented in, or substantially in, such manner and/or in accordance with any
timeframe, or that such proceeds may not be totally or partially disbursed as planned, for reasons that are
outside the Issuer’s control or which the Issuer is not able to anticipate. Green Notes or the assets they finance
(or refinance) may not have the results or outcome (whether or not related to environmental or other
objectives) originally expected or anticipated by the Issuer. The Issuer intends to provide regular information
on the use of proceeds of its Green Notes and to publish related audit reports, but it is under no obligation to
do so. In addition, the Issuer may change its Green Finance Framework and/or the selection criteria it uses
to select Eligible Assets at any time. In particular, these frameworks and definitions may (or may not) be
modified to adapt to any update that may be made to the International Capital Market Association’s
(“ICMA”) Green Bond Principles and/or the Loan Market Association’s (“LMA”) Green Loan Principles
on which the Green Finance Framework of the Issuer is based. Any of the aforementioned events or changes
(including any withdrawal of any applicable opinion or certification (whether or not solicited by the Issuer),
any opinion or certification to the effect that the Issuer is not complying in whole or in part with criteria or
requirements covered by such opinion or certification), (i) will not constitute an Event of Default with respect
to the Green Notes and (ii) may have a negative impact on the market value and the liquidity of any Green
Notes issued prior to their implementation and/or may have consequences for certain investors, in particular
investors with portfolio mandates to invest in green assets who may decide to sell the Green Notes, which
may in turn affect the market value and liquidity of the Green Notes more generally. Consequently,
Noteholders could lose all or part of their investment in the Notes.

The Issuer may not have the ability to repay the Notes at their maturity or in case of an Event of Default, or
to pay interests due.

The Issuer may not be able to repay the Notes at their maturity or to pay interests due. The Issuer may also
be required to repay all or part of the Notes in case of an Event of Default as set out in the Conditions. If the
Noteholders were to ask the Issuer to repay their Notes following an Event of Default, the Issuer cannot be
certain that it will be able to pay the required amount in full. The Issuer’s ability to repay the Notes and to
pay interests due will depend on the Issuer’s financial condition (including its cash position resulting from
its ability to receive income and dividends from its subsidiaries) at the time of the requested repayment. The
Issuer’s failure to repay the Notes or to pay interests due may result in an event of default (however
described) under the terms of other outstanding indebtedness, which may in turn have a significant impact
on the financial position of the Issuer. Consequently, the Issuer may not be able to pay amounts of principal
and/or interest due, including upon the occurrence of an Event of Default. Please also refer to risk factors
entitled “The Issuer may be unable to maintain a sufficient liquidity level and/or attract and maintain the
necessary financing at favourable terms”, “The Issuer is, to a certain extent, dependent on the financial
position of its subsidiaries” and “Fluctuations in the Issuer’s interest rates could materially impact its
financial results” above. The materiality of this risk may be reinforced in respect of Notes which have a
longer maturity.

Notes that have a fixed to floating interest rate or a floating to fixed interest rate may result in a yield for
investors lower than market rates at the time of conversion.

Fixed to Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or
from a floating rate to a fixed rate.

Where the Issuer has the right to effect such a conversion, this is expected to affect the secondary market
and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to
produce a lower overall cost of borrowing.
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If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed to Floating Rate Notes may
be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference
rate and such new floating rate may at any time be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts
from a floating rate to a fixed rate in such circumstances as described above, the fixed rate may be lower
than then prevailing rates on its Notes and the yield may be lower than initially expected.

The regulation and reform of “benchmarks” may adversely affect the value of Floating Rate Notes linked to
or referencing such “benchmarks”.

The London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) are, and
other types of indices, including (but not limited to) indices comprised of interest rates, equities,
commodities, commodity indices, exchange traded products, foreign exchange rates, funds and combinations
of any of the preceding types of indices which may be, deemed to be “benchmarks”, which have been the
subject of recent national, international and other regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of
these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented.

The Benchmarks Regulation applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a
benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the European Union and/or in the UK as the Benchmarks
Regulation forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA and, among other things, (i) requires
benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent
regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and to comply with extensive requirements in relation to the
administration of “benchmarks” and (ii) prevents certain uses by EU supervised entities of “benchmarks” of
administrators that are not authorised/registered (or, if non-EU based, deemed equivalent or recognised or
endorsed).

Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 4.3 (Benchmark Discontinuation) which seek to offset any
adverse effects for the Noteholders, the Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on any Floating
Rate Notes if the methodology or other terms of the benchmark are changed in order to comply with the
requirements of the Benchmarks Regulation. Such changes could, among other things, have the effect of
reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the relevant
benchmark.

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of
benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a
benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements. It is not possible to predict with
certainty whether, and to what extent, certain benchmarks will continue to be supported going forward. This
may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than they have done in the past, and may have other
consequences which cannot be predicted. Such factors may have the effect of (i) discouraging market
participants from continuing to administer or contribute to a benchmark, (ii) triggering changes in the rules
or methodologies used in the benchmarks and/or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the benchmark. Any of
the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or other
initiatives or investigations, could, among other things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise
affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the benchmark and as a consequence, could have a
negative effect on the value of and return on any Floating Rate Notes linked to, referencing, or otherwise
dependent (in whole or in part) upon a benchmark.

The Terms and Conditions of Notes provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a Benchmark
Event (as defined in the Conditions) occurs, including if an Original Reference Rate and/or any page on
which an Original Reference Rate may be published, becomes unavailable or if an Original Reference Rate
has been discontinued. Such fallback arrangements include the possibility that the Rate of Interest could be
set by reference to a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate, with or without the application of an adjustment
spread and may include amendments to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to ensure the proper operation
of the successor or replacement benchmark, all as determined by the Independent Adviser (acting in good
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faith and in consultation with the Issuer). An adjustment spread, if applied could be positive or negative and
would be applied with a view to reducing or eliminating, to the fullest extent reasonably practicable in the
circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to investors arising out of the replacement
of an Original Reference Rate. However, it may not be possible to determine or apply an adjustment spread
and even if an adjustment is applied, such adjustment spread may not be effective to reduce or eliminate
economic prejudice to investors. If no adjustment spread can be determined, a Successor Rate or Alternative
Rate may nonetheless be used to determine the Rate of Interest. The use of a Successor Rate or Alternative
Rate (including with the application of an adjustment spread) will still result in any Notes linked to or
referencing an Original Reference Rate performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate
of Interest) than they would if the Original Reference Rate were to continue to apply in its current form.

If, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Event, no Independent Advisor has been appointed or no
Successor Rate or Alternative Rate is determined, the ultimate fallback for the purposes of calculation of the
Rate of Interest for a particular Interest Period may result in the Rate of Interest for the last preceding Interest
Period being used. This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based
on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page. Due to the uncertainty concerning the
availability of Successor Rates and Alternative Rates, the involvement of an Independent Adviser and the
potential for further regulatory developments, there is a risk that the relevant fallback provisions may not
operate as intended at the relevant time.

Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and return on, any Floating
Rate Notes.

There may be no tax gross-up protection.

Potential investors should be aware that, if the Tax Call Option and the Prohibition of Sales to Consumers
are specified as not applicable in the Final Terms, the Conditions do not require the Issuer to gross up the
net payments received by a Noteholder in relation to the Notes with the amounts withheld or deducted for
Belgian tax purposes. In case the Belgian tax rules would be amended such that Noteholders holding their
Notes in an exempt securities account in the NBB Securities Settlement System are no longer exempt from
Belgian withholding tax, such Noteholders will bear the risk that Belgian withholding tax will be applied to
and withheld from the payments to be received in relation to the Notes. The Noteholders (and no other
person) will be liable for, and be obliged to pay, any tax, duty, charge, withholding or other payment
whatsoever as may arise as a result of, or in connection with, the ownership, transfer or payment in respect
of the Notes. This could have a significant impact on the net amounts the investors will receive pursuant to
the payments to be made under the Notes and could also materially adversely affect the value of such Notes.

Potential investors should also be aware that, if the Tax Call Option and the Prohibition of Sales to
Consumers are specified as applicable in the Final Terms, a tax gross-up requirement applies, but this is
subject to certain exceptions, as set out in the Conditions. In such case, the Issuer will, among others, not be
obliged to pay any additional amounts with respect to any Note to a Noteholder who, at the time of
acquisition of the Notes, was not an Eligible Investor or to a Noteholder who was such an Eligible Investor
at the time of acquisition of the Notes but, for reasons within the relevant Noteholders' control, either ceased
to be an Eligible Investor or, at any relevant time on or after the issue of the Notes, otherwise failed to meet
any other condition for the exemption of Belgian withholding tax pursuant to the Belgian Law of 6 August
1993 on transactions in certain securities. The application of this Condition, and the exemptions included
therein, may therefore have an impact on the return which an investor receives on its Notes.

Belgian withholding tax, currently at a rate of 30 per cent., will in principle apply to the interest on the Notes
held in a non-exempt securities account in the NBB Securities Settlement System. If a payment were to be
made to a Noteholder holding the Notes in such non-exempt account, neither the Issuer, nor the Agent nor
any other person would be obliged to pay any additional amounts with respect to these Notes as a result of a
deduction or withholding for the Belgian withholding tax.
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Absence of credit rating may render the price setting for the Notes more difficult.

Even though a rating may be assigned or requested in the future, the Issuer and the Notes currently do not
have and the Issuer currently does not intend to request a credit rating for itself or for the Notes. As long as
the Notes or the Issuer are not rated, it may be more difficult for investors to assess the Issuer’s ability to
comply with its payment obligations under the Notes. Due to the absence of a credit rating, it may also be
more difficult for Noteholders to benchmark their investment in the Notes against other debt securities, and
to become aware of any adverse change in the risk of the Issuer. There is no guarantee that the price of the
Notes will cover the credit risk related to the Notes and the Issuer. The foregoing elements may impact both
the liquidity of the Notes (please also refer to the risk factor “An active secondary market in respect of the
Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and this would adversely affect the value at which an
investor could sell his Notes” below) and the trading price of the Notes. As a result, Noteholders selling their
Notes prior to the stated maturity may obtain a yield which is lower than expected and/or may lose part of
their investment.

In relation to any Notes to which a credit rating would be assigned, the rating may not reflect all the risks
associated with an investment in the Notes and a change in the CRA Regulation registration status of the
relevant credit rating agency or a downgrade or withdrawal of any such rating may impact the value of the
Notes .

While the Issuer currently does not intend to request a credit rating for itself or for the Notes, it cannot be
excluded that a rating would be requested or assigned in the future. In such case, information in respect of
the rating and the credit rating agency will be set out in the applicable Final Terms. Such rating (including
any unsolicited rating) may, however, be revised, suspended or withdrawn by its assigning rating agency at
any time.

Furthermore, European regulated investors are restricted under Regulation (EU) No 462/2013 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 21 May 2013 on credit rating agencies (the “CRA Regulation”)
from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency
established in the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been
withdrawn or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances). Such general
restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies, unless the
relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EU-registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating
agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as
the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain
circumstances). The list of registered and certified rating agencies published by ESMA on its website in
accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of the relevant rating agency
included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory measures being taken against a
relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated ESMA list.

If the status of the relevant rating agency rating the Notes or the Issuer would change, European regulated
investors may no longer be able to use the rating for regulatory purposes and the Notes may have a different
regulatory treatment. This may result in European regulated investors selling the Notes which may impact
the value of the Notes on any secondary market. In addition, the value of the Notes on any secondary market
may be adversely affected by any negative change (including a downgrade) in or withdrawal of a credit
rating assigned to the Issuer or to the Notes. As a result, Noteholders selling their Notes prior to the stated
maturity may obtain a yield which is lower than expected and/or may lose part of their investment.

Optional redemption rights of the Issuer may affect the market value of the Notes.

The Notes may be subject to an early redemption option of the Issuer, in particular as a result of any change
in applicable tax laws as set out in Condition 6.3 (Redemption for tax reasons) or at the option of the Issuer
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as set out in Condition 6.4 (Redemption at the option of the Issuer) or Condition 6.5 (Make Whole
Redemption/Three-Month Par Call at the option of the Issuer).

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the
Issuer may elect to redeem Notes or the market anticipates that any such redemption might occur, the market
value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed.
This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the
Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an
effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so
at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other
investments available at that time.

The Change of Control Put Option can only be exercised in specific circumstances.

If the Change of Control Put Option is specified in the applicable Final Terms as applicable, each Noteholder,
at its own initiative, will have the right to require the Issuer to redeem all or any part of such holder’s Notes
at the Put Redemption Amount, upon the occurrence of a Change of Control of the Issuer.

Potential investors should be aware that, in the event that holders of a significant proportion of the Notes
exercise their put option, Notes in respect of which the put option is not exercised may be illiquid and difficult
to trade.

Furthermore, potential investors should be aware that the put option can only be exercised in specified
circumstances of a “Change of Control” as defined in the Conditions. This may not cover all situations where
a change of control may occur or where successive changes of control occur in relation to the Issuer. In
particular, the Change of Control Put Option can only be exercised provided that prior to the earliest of (a)
the Issuer being notified by the FSMA of a formal filing of a proposed offer to the shareholders of the Issuer
pursuant to Article 7 of the Belgian Royal Decree of 27 April 2007 on takeover bids or (b) the occurrence of
the Change of Control, (i) the Change of Control Resolutions have been approved by the shareholders of the
Issuer in a general meeting and (ii) such resolutions have been filed with the Clerk of the Business Court of
Brussels (greffe du tribunal de [’entreprise/griffie van de ondernemingsrechtbank). The Issuer has
undertaken, pursuant to Condition 6.6 (a) (Upon a Change of Control (Change of Control Put Option)), to
use all reasonable endeavours to procure that the Change of Control Resolutions approved by a resolution of
the Shareholders of the Issuer at its next general meeting, and in connection therewith to propose the Change
of Control Resolutions at the next general meeting of the Shareholders of the Issuer to be held not later than
on 1 July 2021 and to file a copy of the resolution as aforesaid immediately thereafter. If a Change of Control
occurs prior to such approval and filing or if the shareholders do not approve the Change of Control Put
Option, Noteholders will not be entitled to exercise the option set out in Condition 6.6 (a) (Upon a Change
of Control (Change of Control Put Option)). There can be no assurance that such approval will be granted
at such meeting and, hence, that the Change of Control Put Option will be able to be exercised by the
Noteholders.

The Conditions contain provisions which may permit their modification without the consent of all investors.

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their
interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders, including
Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner
contrary to the majority. Investors might therefore be bound by certain amendments to the Notes to which
they did not consent. Such decisions may include decisions relating to the interest payable on the Notes (if
any) and/or the amount paid by the Issuer upon redemption of the Notes.
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Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in response to
changes in market interest rates.

Potential investors (in particular potential investors in Zero Coupon Notes) should be aware that the market
values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or premium to their principal
amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than prices for more
conventional interest-bearing securities do. Generally, the longer the remaining term of such securities, the
greater the price volatility as compared to more conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable
maturities.

Risks relating to the subscription of the Notes, the listing and settlement of the Notes and the
market in the Notes

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and this
would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell his Notes.

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market for the
Notes does develop, it may not be very liquid and may be sensitive to changes in financial markets.
Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield
comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case
should the Issuer be in financial distress, which may result in any sale of the Notes having to be at a
substantial discount to their principal amount or for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate,
currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured
to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would
have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities.

Fees, commissions and/or inducements included in the issue price and/or the offer price may negatively
affect the yield of the Notes.

Potential investors should note that the issue price and/or the offer price of the Notes will include certain
additional fees and costs as set out in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, Pricing
Supplement).

Any such fees may not be taken into account for the purposes of determining the price of the Notes on the
secondary market and could result in a difference between the original issue price and/or offer price, the
theoretical value of such Notes and/or the actual bid/offer price quoted by any intermediary in the secondary
market. Any such difference may have an adverse effect on the value of Notes, particularly immediately
following the offer and issue date of the Notes, where any such fees and/or costs may be deducted from the
price at which such Notes can be sold by the initial investor in the secondary market. An initial investor
selling the Notes in the secondary market may hence receive an amount that is less than the amount it paid
when subscribing for the Notes.

Conflicts of interest with the Agent or/and the Dealers could have an adverse effect to the interests of the
Noteholders.

Potential investors should be aware that the Issuer is involved in a general business relation or/and in specific
transactions with the Agent or/and the Dealers and that they might have conflicts of interests which could
have an adverse effect to the interests of the Noteholders. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the Dealers
provide, among other things, payment services, investments of liquidities, credit facilities, bank guarantees
and assistance in relation to bonds and structured products to the Issuer and its subsidiaries for which certain
fees and commissions are being paid. These fees represent recurring costs which are being paid to the Dealers
as well as to other banks which offer similar services. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had an aggregate
amount of financial indebtedness outstanding of EUR 0 with Bank Degroof Petercam SA/NV, EUR 70.6
million with Belfius Bank SA/NV, EUR 134 million with BNP Paribas Fortis SA/NV and EUR 16 million
with KBC Bank NV.
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Potential investors should also be aware that the Dealers may from time to time hold debt securities, shares
and/or other financial instruments of the Issuer.

Furthermore, the Dealers and the Agent receive customary commissions in relation to the offer of Notes.
Please also refer to the risk factor “Fees, commissions and/or inducements included in the issue price and/or
the offer price may negatively affect the yield of the Notes”.

Certain parties involved in the issuance of the Notes may act in different capacities and may also be engaged
in other commercial relationships, in particular, be part of the same group, be lenders, provide banking,
investment banking or other services (whether or not financial) to other parties involved in the issuance of
Notes. In such relationships the relevant parties may not be obliged to take into consideration the interests
of the Noteholders. Accordingly, because of these relationships, potential conflicts of interest may arise out
of the transaction.

In particular, the terms and conditions of loan agreements between the Dealers and the Issuer may contain
or contain financial covenants, such as a minimum equity level or gearing ratio, different from or not included
in the conditions of the proposed Notes. The Noteholders should be aware of the fact that the Dealers, when
they act as lenders to the Issuer or another company within the Group (or when they act in any other capacity
whatsoever), have no fiduciary duties or other duties of any nature whatsoever vis-a-vis the Noteholders and
that they are under no obligation to take into account the interests of the Noteholders.

Belfius Bank SA/NV will act as the Issuer’s Agent. In its capacity as Agent, it will act in accordance with
the Conditions in good faith and endeavour at all times to make its determinations in a commercially
reasonable manner. However, Noteholders should be aware that the Agent does not assume any fiduciary or
other obligations to the Noteholders and, in particular, is not obliged to make determinations which protect
or further the interests of the Noteholders.

The Agent may rely on any information to which it should properly have regard that is reasonably believed
by it to be genuine and to have been originated by the proper parties. In addition, Noteholders should be
aware that, in the absence of bad faith or willful default, the Calculation Agent shall not be liable for the
consequences to any person (including Noteholders) of any errors or omissions (i) in the calculation by the
Calculation Agent of any amount due in respect of the Notes, (ii) in any determination made by the
Calculation Agent in relation to the Notes, (iii) arising as a result of any information provided to the
Calculation Agent proving to have been incorrect or incomplete or (iv) arising as a result of any relevant
information not being provided to the Calculation Agent on a timely basis. In any such situation, Noteholders
will not have a recourse against the Agent or the Calculation Agent.

If the creditworthiness of the Issuer or other economic factors were to deteriorate, this may adversely affect
the market value of the Notes.

The value of the Notes may be affected by the creditworthiness of the Issuer and a number of additional
factors, such as market interest and yield rates, the time remaining to the maturity date (the “Maturity Date”,
as specified in the relevant Final Terms) and, more generally, all economic, financial and political events in
any country, including factors affecting capital markets generally and the stock exchanges on which the
Notes are traded. The price at which a Noteholder will be able to sell the Notes prior to maturity may be at
a discount, which could be substantial, from the issue price or the purchase price paid by such purchaser.
The materiality of this risk may be reinforced in respect of Notes which have a longer maturity.

The transfer of any Notes, any payments made in respect of any Notes and all communications with the
Issuer will occur through the NBB Securities Settlement System and Noteholders may not have a direct claim
against the Issuer.

A Noteholder must rely on the procedures of the NBB Securities Settlement System to receive payment
under its Notes or communications from the Issuer. The Issuer, the Dealers and the Agent will have no
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responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, the Notes within, or any
other improper functioning of, the NBB Securities Settlement System and Noteholders should in such case
make a claim against the NBB Securities Settlement System through participants in the NBB Securities
Settlement System. Any such risk may adversely affect the rights and/or return on investment of a
Noteholder.

The Agent is not required to segregate amounts received by it in respect of Notes cleared through the NBB
Securities Settlement System.

The Conditions and the Agency Agreement provide that the Agent will debit the relevant account of the
Issuer and use such funds to make payment to the Noteholders and that the payment obligations of the Issuer
under the Notes will be discharged by payment to the Agent in respect of each amount so paid. The Agency
Agreement provides that the Agent will, simultaneously with the receipt by it of the relevant amounts, pay
to the Noteholders, directly or through the NBB, any amounts due in respect of the relevant Notes. However,
the Agent is not required to segregate any such amounts received by it in respect of the Notes, and in the
event that the Agent were subject to insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings at any time when it held any such
amounts, Noteholders would not have any further claim against the Issuer in respect of such amounts and
would be required to claim such amounts from the Agent in accordance with applicable insolvency laws.
This may have a negative impact on the Noteholders’ ability to obtain full or partial repayment.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents which have previously been published shall be incorporated in, and form part of,

this Base Prospectus:

(a)

(b)

in the annual report and audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year
ended 31 December 2020 (consolidated in accordance with IFRS) and the related auditor’s report
thereon as set out in the annual report of the Issuer (available on
https://www.immobelgroup.com/en/annual-report-2020), the information set out at the following

pages:

Management report Pages 68-81
Corporate governance statement Pages 82-98
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income Page 118
Consolidated statement of financial position Page 119
Consolidated statement of cash flow position Page 120
Consolidated statement of changes in equity Page 121
Accounting principles and methods Pages 122 to 133
Notes to the consolidated financial statements Pages 133 to 166
Statutory auditor’s report Pages 167 to 171

in the annual report and audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year
ended 31 December 2019 (consolidated in accordance with IFRS) and the related auditor’s report
thereon as set out in the annual report of the Issuer (available on
https://www.immobelgroup.com/en/annual-report-2019), the information set out at the following

pages:

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income Page 80
Consolidated statement of financial position Page 81
Consolidated statement of cash flow position Page 82
Consolidated statement of changes in equity Page 83
Accounting principles and methods Pages 84 to 94
Notes to the consolidated financial statements Pages 94 to 127
Statutory auditor’s report Pages 128 to 133

Such documents shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Base Prospectus, save that any statement

contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be modified or superseded for the

purpose of this Base Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such

earlier statement. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded,

constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

Any information included in the annual reports and audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer

for the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 which is not included in the above

cross-reference lists is not incorporated in, and does not form part of, this Base Prospectus and is considered

to be additional information which is either not relevant for investors or covered elsewhere in this Base

Prospectus.
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Following the publication of this Base Prospectus, a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and approved
by the FSMA in accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation. Statements contained in any such
supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable
(whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in
this Base Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any
statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this
Base Prospectus.

The Issuer confirms that it has obtained the approval from its auditors to incorporate the consolidated
financial statements and the related audit reports thereon in this Base Prospectus.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS

NOTES WITH A DENOMINATION OF LESS THAN €100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANY
OTHER CURRENCY), OTHER THAN EXEMPT NOTES

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued under
the Programme which are not Exempt Notes and which have a denomination of less than €100,000 (or its
equivalent in any other currency).

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered,
sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any Retail
Investor in the European Economic Area (“EEA”). For these purposes, a “Retail Investor” means a person
who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU
(as amended, “MIiFID II”); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended,
the “Insurance Distribution Directive”) where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation
(EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the “Prospectus Regulation”). Consequently, the Issuer has not prepared a
key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the “PRIIPs
Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to Retail Investors in the
EEA and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any Retail Investor
in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]!

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered,
sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any UK
Retail investor in the United Kingdom (“UK”). For these purposes, a “UK Retail Investor”” means a person
who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565
as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“EUWA”); (ii) a
customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA
2000”) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA 2000 to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97,
where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of
Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified
investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of
the EUWA. Consequently, the Issuer has not prepared a key information document required by Regulation
(EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs Regulation™)
for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to UK Retail Investors in the UK and
therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any UK Retail Investor in the
UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO CONSUMERS - The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to and will not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any consumer
(consument/consommateur) within the meaning of the Belgian Code of Economic Law (Wetboek van
economisch recht/Code de droit économique), as amended.]?

[MIFID II product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs — Solely for the
purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of
the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties,
professional clients and retail clients, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID
II”)][MiFID II]; EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate, including
investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services] OR [(ii) all

' Delete if not applicable.

2 Delete if not applicable.
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channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate and (iii) the
following channels for distribution of the Notes to retail clients are appropriate - investment advice[,/ and]
portfolio management[,/ and][ non-advised sales |[and pure execution services][, subject to the distributor’s
suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID II, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative target
market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) should
take into consideration the manufacturer|‘s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to
MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either
adopting or refining the manufacturer[‘s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate
distribution channels[, subject to the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID
I, as applicable].]?

[Date]
IMMOBEL SA

Legal entity identifier (“LEI”): 549300GAV4HKKFJA8W67
Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes)
under the EUR 325,000,000
Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do so:

)] in those Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions mentioned in paragraph 8(vii) of Part B below, provided
such person is a Dealer or Authorised Offeror (as such term is defined in the Base Prospectus (as
defined below)) and that the offer is made during the Offer Period specified in that paragraph and that
any conditions relevant to the use of the Base Prospectus are complied with; or

(ii))  otherwise in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or to supplement a prospectus pursuant
to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer.

Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in
any other circumstances.

The expression “Prospectus Regulation” means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended from time to time.

PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the
Base Prospectus dated 1 June 2021 [and the supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]] which [together]
constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation (the “Base Prospectus”). This
document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of the Prospectus
Regulation and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus in order to obtain all the relevant
information. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the
combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. However, a summary prepared in accordance
with Article 7 of the Prospectus Regulation is annexed to these Final Terms. The Base Prospectus has been
published on the websites of the Issuer (https://www.immobelgroup.com/en/publications/update-emtn-
programme-2019) and of the FSMA ([e]).

[Unclude whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable”. Note that the numbering should
remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs

3 Delete if not applicable.
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(in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics denote

directions for completing the Final Terms.]

1

2

10

Issuer:
(a) Series Number:
(b) Tranche Number:

(c) Date on which the Notes
become fungible:

Specified Currency or Currencies:
Aggregate Nominal Amount:

(a) Series:

(b) Tranche:

Issue Price:

(a) Specified Denomination(s):

(b) Calculation Amount:

(a) Issue Date:

(b)

Interest Commencement Date:

Maturity Date:

Interest Basis:

Redemption/Payment Basis:

Immobel SA
[e]
[e]

[Not Applicable]/[The Notes shall be consolidated, form a
single series and be interchangeable for trading purposes with
the [insert description of the Series] on [[insert date] /the
Issue Date].

[e]
[e]
[e]
[e]

[e] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus accrued
interest from [insert date] (if applicable)]

[e]

(The minimum Specified Denomination shall be at least
€1,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency). The Notes
may have multiple Specified Denominations, provided that
the larger Specified Denominations are integral multiples of
the smaller Specified Denominations.)

[e]

(If there is only one Specified Denomination, insert the

Specified Denomination. If more than one Specified

Denomination, insert the highest common factor. Note: There
must be a common factor in the case of two or more Specified
Denominations.)

[e]

[Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

(N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be applicable
for Zero Coupon Notes.)

[specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest Payment

Date falling in or nearest to the relevant month and year]
[[®] per cent. fixed rate]

[[[®] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]] +/- [®] per cent. floating
rate]

[Zero Coupon]
(see paragraph [13]/[14]/[15] below)
Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early redemption,

the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at
[[®]/[100]] per cent. of their nominal amount
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11

12

Put/Call Options:

(a)
(b)

Status of the Notes:

Date Board approval for
issuance of Notes obtained:

[Change of Control Put Option]

[Put Option]

[Call Option]

[Tax Call Option]

[Make Whole/Three-Month Par Call Option]
[(see paragraph [16]/[17]/[18]/[19]/[20] below)]
[Not Applicable]

Senior

[e]

(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation is
required for the particular tranche of Notes)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

13 Fixed Rate Note Provisions

14

(a)

(®)
(©)
(d)
(e)

®

Rate(s) of Interest:

Interest Payment Date(s):
Day Count Fraction:
Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]:

Broken Amount(s):

Determination Date(s):

Floating Rate Note Provisions

(a)

(b)

(©)

Specified Period(s):

Specified Interest Payment
Date(s):

First Interest Payment Date:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
paragraph)
[®] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each Interest

Payment Date

[e] in each year up to and including the Maturity Date
[30/360] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]
[®] per Calculation Amount

[[®] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest Payment
Date falling [in/on] [e®]]/[Not Applicable]

[[®] in each year]/[Not Applicable]

(insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or
maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last
coupon, N.B. relevant only where Day Count Fraction is
Actual/Actual (ICMA))

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
paragraph)

[®][, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business
Day Convention set out in (d) below/, not subject to any
adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in (d) below is
specified to be Not Applicable]

[®] in each year[, subject to adjustment in accordance with
the Business Day Convention set out in (d) below/, not subject
to any adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in (d)
below is specified to be Not Applicable]

[e]
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(d)

(e)
)

(2

(h)

(@)

0

(9]

M

(m)
()
(0)

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s):

Interest Business Day

Jurisdiction:

Manner in which the Rate(s) of

Interest is/are to be
determined:
Party responsible for
calculating the Rate(s) of
Interest and/or Interest
Amount(s):

Screen Rate Determination:

e  Reference Rate:

e Interest Determination

Date(s):

e  Relevant Screen Page:

ISDA Determination:

e  Floating Rate Option:
e  Designated Maturity:

° Reset Date:

e  ISDA Definitions:

Linear Interpolation:

Margin(s):
Minimum Rate of Interest:
Maximum Rate of Interest:

Day Count Fraction:

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day Convention]/[Not Applicable]

[e]
[e]

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]

[Agent]/[[e]]

[] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]
[e]

(Second London business day prior to the start of each
Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or euro LIBOR),

first day of each Interest Period if Sterling LIBOR and the

second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior to
the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR)

[e]

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO0I ensure
it is a page which shows a composite rate)

[e]

[e]

[e]

(In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, the first
day of the Interest Period)

2006

[Not Applicable/Applicable — the Rate of Interest for the
[long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated
using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long
interest period)|

[+/-]1[®] per cent. per annum

[®] per cent. per annum

[®] per cent. per annum

[[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual]

[Actual/365 (Fixed)]
[Actual/365 (Sterling)]
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15 Zero Coupon Note Provisions

(a)
(b)

Amortisation Yield:

Day Count Fraction in relation
to Early Redemption Amounts:

[Actual/360]

[30/360][360/360][Bond Basis]

[30E/360][Eurobond basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
paragraph)

[®] per cent. per annum

[e]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION
16 Call Option:

17

18

(a)
(b)

Optional Redemption Date(s):

Optional Redemption

Amount(s) of each Note:

(c) Ifredeemable in part:

(i) Minimum Redemption
Amount:

(i)  Maximum Redemption
Amount:

(d) Notice period:

Put Option:

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):
(b) Optional Redemption
Amount(s) of each Note:

(c) Notice period:

Change of Control Put Option:

(a)

Redemption Rate:

19 Tax Call Option:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
paragraph. The Call Option should only be specified to be
applicable if the Prohibition of Sales to Consumers is
specified to be applicable.)

[e]

[[®] per Calculation Amount]/[Early Redemption Amount]

[[®] per Calculation Amount]/[Not Applicable]

[[®] per Calculation Amount]/[Not Applicable]

Minimum period: [15] days

Maximum period: [30] days

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
paragraph.)

[e]

[[®] per Calculation Amount]/[Early Redemption Amount]

Minimum period: [15] days
Maximum period: [30] days
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraph of this
paragraph.)

[e]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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20 Make Whole/Three-Month Par Call

Option:

(a) Notice period:

(b) Margin(s):

(c) Reference Stock:

(d) Reference Dealers:
(e) Determination Date:
(f) Determination Time:

21 Final Redemption Amount of each
Note:

22 Early Redemption Amount(s) per

Calculation Amount payable on

redemption for taxation reasons or

on event of default or other early

redemption:

(The Tax Call Option should only be specified to be
applicable if the Prohibition of Sales to Consumers is
specified to be applicable.)

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraph of this
paragraph. The Make Whole/Three-Month Par Call Option
should only be specified to be applicable if the Prohibition of
Sales to Consumers is specified to be applicable.)

Minimum period: [15] days

Maximum period: [30] days

[[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum]/[Not Applicable]
[e]

[e]

[e]

[e][a.m./p.m. [@] time]

[Par]/[e] per Calculation Amount

[Par]/[e] per Calculation Amount

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES
23 Form of Notes:

[THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

Dematerialised form

[[Relevant third party information] has been extracted from [specify source]. The Issuer confirms that such

information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from

information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading.]]

Signed on behalf of Immobel SA:

By:

Duly authorised
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PART B - OTHER INFORMATION

1 LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING  [Application has been made by the Issuer (or on

its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading
on [the regulated market of Euronext
Brussels/specify] with effect from [e].]

[Not Applicable.]

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to
indicate that original Notes are already admitted
to trading.)

2  RATINGS

Ratings: [Not Applicable]/[The Notes to be issued [[have
been]/[are expected to be]] rated]/[The following
ratings reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this
type issued under the Programme generally]:

[S& P:[e]]
[Moody’s: [e]]
[Fitch: [e]]
[[Other]: [@]]
(Need to include a brief explanation of the
meaning of the ratings if this has previously been
published by the rating provider.)
3 INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE/OFFER

(Need to include a description of any interest, including a conflict of interest, that is material to the
issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the inclusion
of the statement below.)

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in
the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Managers/Dealers] and their affiliates have
engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions
with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business —
(Amend as appropriate if there are other interests).]

(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described
constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base
Prospectus under Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.)

4 REASONS FOR THE OFFER, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES

(1) Reasons for the offer [See limb (i) of the section “Use of Proceeds” in
the Base Prospectus]/ [to [finance/refinance]
Eligible Assets as more specifically described
[under “Use of Proceeds” and “Green Finance
Framework” in the Base Prospectus]
[[and]below]/[give details].

(See limb (i) of the section “Use of Proceeds”
wording in Base Prospectus — if reasons for issue
different from what is disclosed in the Base

Prospectus, give details.)
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(i)  Estimated net proceeds:

(iii))  Estimated total expenses:

5  YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only)

Indication of yield:

[e]

(If proceeds are intended for more than one use,
will need to split out and present in order of
priority. If proceeds insufficient to fund all
proposed uses state amount and sources of other
funding.)

[e]

(Include breakdown of expenses into each
principal intended use and present in order of
priority of such uses.)

([e]

The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the
basis of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of
future yield.]/[Not Applicable]

6 PERFORMANCE OF RATES (Floating Rate Notes only)

[Details of performance of [LIBOR/EURIBOR] rates can be obtained, [but not] free of charge, from
[Reuters/Bloomberg/give details of electronic means of obtaining the details of performance].]/[Not

Applicable]

7  OPERATIONAL INFORMATION
@ ISIN:
(i)  Common Code:

(i) CFI:

(iv)  FISN:

(v)  Any settlement system(s) other than the
NBB Securities Settlement System,
Euroclear Bank SA/NV, Clearstream
Banking AG, Frankfurt, SIX SIS AG,
Monte Titoli S.p.A, Interbolsa S.A.,
Euroclear France S.A. and LuxCSD S.A.
and the relevant identification number(s):
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[e]
[e]

[[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on]
the website of the Association of National
Numbering Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively
sourced from the responsible National
Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN]/[Not
Applicable]/[Not Available]

[[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on]
the website of the Association of National
Numbering Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively
sourced from the responsible National
Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN]/[Not
Applicable]/[Not Available]

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]



8

(vi)

Delivery:

(vii) Names and addresses of additional
Paying Agent(s) (if any):

(viii) [Relevant Benchmark[s]:

(ix) Intended to be held in a manner which
would allow Eurosystem eligibility:

DISTRIBUTION

)] Method of distribution:

(il))  If syndicated:
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Delivery [against/free of] payment

[e]

[Not  Applicable]/[[specify  benchmark] is
provided by [administrator legal name]. As at the
date hereof, [administrator legal name]
[appears]/[does not appear] in the register of
administrators and benchmarks established and
maintained by the European Securities and
Markets Authority pursuant to Article 36 of
Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 (the
“Benchmarks Regulation™).]/[As far as the
Issuer is aware, as at the date hereof, [[specify
benchmark] does not fall within the scope of the
Benchmarks Regulation]/[the transitional
provisions in Article 51 of the Benchmarks
Regulation apply such that [administrator legal
name] is not required to be included in the register
of administrators and benchmarks established and
maintained by the FEuropean Securities and
Markets Authority].]]

[Yes. Note that the designation “yes” does not
necessarily mean that the Notes will be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra day credit operations
by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or
all times during their life. Such recognition will
depend upon the ECB being satisfied that
Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.]

/

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as “no” at
the date of these Final Terms, should the
Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the
future such that the Notes are capable of meeting
them, the Notes may then be recognised as
eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary
policy and intra day credit operations by the
Eurosystem at any time during their life. Note that
this does not necessarily mean that the Notes will
then be recognised. Such recognition will depend
upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem
eligibility criteria have been met.]

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]



(A) Names and addresses of Managers

and underwriting
commitments/quotas (material
features):

(B) Date of [Subscription] Agreement:

(ii1)  If non-syndicated, name and address of
Dealer:

(iv)  Indication of the overall amount of the
underwriting commission and of the
placing commission:

(v)  U.S. Selling Restrictions (Categories of
potential investors to which the Notes are
offered):

(vi)  Non-exempt Offer:

(vil)  Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions:

(viii) Offer Period:

(ix) Maximum Amount:

(x)  Minimum Amount:

(xi)  Financial intermediaries granted specific
consent to use the Base Prospectus in
accordance with the conditions in it:

(xii))  General Consent:

(xiii) Other Authorised Offeror Terms:
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[Not Applicable/give names, addresses and

underwriting commitments]

(Include names and addresses of entities agreeing
to underwrite the issue on a firm commitment
basis and names and addresses of the entities
agreeing to place the issue without a firm
commitment or on a “best efforts” basis if such
entities are not the same as the Managers.)

[e]
[Not Applicable/give name and address)

[®] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount

[Reg. S Compliance Category 1; TEFRA D/
TEFRA C/ TEFRA not applicable]

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]
(if not applicable, delete subparagraphs (vii) to
and including (xiii) and also paragraph 9 below)

[Specify relevant Member State(s) where the
Issuer intends to make Non-exempt Offers (where
the Base Prospectus lists the Non-exempt Offer
Jurisdictions, select from that list), which must
therefore be jurisdictions where the Base
Prospectus and any supplements have been
passported (in addition to the jurisdiction where
approved and published)]

[Specify date] until [specify date]

[(i) Series: EUR [ ]/ Not Applicable]
[(ii) Tranche: EUR [ ]/ Not Applicable]
[(i) Series: EUR [ ]/ Not Applicable]

[(ii) Tranche: EUR [ ]/ Not Applicable]

[Insert names and addresses of financial

intermediaries  receiving consent  (specific

consent)]

[Not Applicable][Applicable]

[Not Applicable][Add here any other Authorised
Offeror Terms]

(Authorised Offeror Terms should only be
included here where General Consent is
applicable.)



(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail
Investors:

Prohibition of Sales to Consumers:

Other selling restrictions:

(xvii) X-only Issuance:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged”
products or the Notes do constitute “packaged”
products and a key information document will be
prepared, “Not Applicable” should be specified.
If the Notes may constitute “packaged” products
and no key information document will be
prepared, “Applicable” should be specified.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[e]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

9 TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER

(Delete whole section if sub-paragraph (vi) above is specified to be Not Applicable because there is no
Non-exempt Offer)

(1)

(i1)
(iif)
(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

)

(xi)

Offer Price:
Conditions to which the offer is subject:
Description of the application process:

Details of the minimum and/or maximum
amount of the application:

Description of possibility to reduce
subscriptions and manner for refunding
amounts paid in excess by applicants:

Details of the method and time limits for
paying up and delivering the Notes:

Manner in and date on which results of
the offer are to be made public:

Procedure for exercise of any right of
pre-emption, negotiability of
subscription rights and treatment of
subscription rights not exercised:

Whether tranche(s) have been reserved
for certain countries:

Process for notifying applicants of the
amount allotted and an indication
whether dealing may begin before
notification is made:

Amount of any expenses and taxes
charged to the subscriber or purchaser:
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[Issue Price/specify]
[Not Applicable/give details]
[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

(If the Issuer is subject to MiFID II and/or the
PRIIPs Regulation such that it is required to
disclose information relating to costs and



(xii)

(xiii)

Name(s) and address(es), to the extent
known to the Issuer, of the placers in the
various countries where the offer takes
place.

[Name and address of the entities which
have a firm commitment to act as
intermediaries in secondary trading,
providing liquidity through bid and offer
rates and description of the main terms of
their commitment:
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charges, also include that information to the
extent known)

[None/give details].

[None/give details]]

(Include details where Notes are being admitted
to trading on a regulated market)



ANNEX
SUMMARY

[e]
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NOTES WITH A DENOMINATION OF €100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANY OTHER
CURRENCY) OR MORE, OTHER THAN EXEMPT NOTES

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued under
the Programme which are not Exempt Notes and which have a denomination of €100,000 (or its equivalent
in any other currency) or more.

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered,
sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any Retail
Investor in the European Economic Area (“EEA”). For these purposes, a “Retail Investor” means a person
who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU
(as amended, “MiFID II”) or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended,
the “Insurance Distribution Directive”) where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently, the Issuer has not prepared a key information
document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the “PRIIPs Regulation™) for offering
or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to Retail Investors in the EEA and therefore offering
or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any Retail Investor in the EEA may be unlawful
under the PRIIPs Regulation.]*

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered,
sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any UK
Retail Investor in the United Kingdom (“UK?”). For these purposes, a “UK Retail Investor” means a person
who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565
as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“EUWA™); (ii) a
customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA
2000”) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA 2000 to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97,
where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of
Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified
investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of
the EUWA. Consequently, the Issuer has not prepared a key information document required by Regulation
(EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs Regulation”)
for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to UK Retail Investors in the UK and
therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any UK Retail Investor in the
UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO CONSUMERS - The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to and will not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any consumer
(consument/consommateur) within the meaning of the Belgian Code of Economic Law (Wetbhoek van
economisch recht/Code de droit économique), as amended.]’

[MIFID II product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs — Solely for the
purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of
the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties,
professional clients and retail clients, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID
IT”)][MiFID II]; EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate, including
investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services] OR [(ii) all
channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate and (iii) the
following channels for distribution of the Notes to retail clients are appropriate - investment advice[,/ and]
portfolio management[,/ and][ non-advised sales ][and pure execution services][, subject to the distributor’s

4 Delete if not applicable.

5 Delete if not applicable.
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suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID II, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative target
market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) should
take into consideration the manufacturer|‘s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to
MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either
adopting or refining the manufacturer[‘s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate
distribution channels[, subject to the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID
11, as applicable].]]®

[Date]

IMMOBEL SA

Legal entity identifier (“LEI”): 549300GAV4HKKFJA8W67
Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes)
under the EUR 325,000,000
Euro Medium Term Note Programme

PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the
Base Prospectus dated 1 June 2021 [and the supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]] which [together]
constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation (the “Base Prospectus”). This
document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of the Prospectus
Regulation and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus in order to obtain all the relevant
information. Full information on the Issuer and the issue of the Notes is only available on the basis of the
combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. The Base Prospectus has been published on the
websites of the Issuer (https://www.immobelgroup.com/en/publications/update-emtn-programme-2019) and
of the FSMA ([e]).

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable”. Note that the numbering should
remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs
(in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics denote
directions for completing the Final Terms.]

1 Issuer: Immobel SA
2 (a) Series Number: [e]
(b) Tranche Number: [e]

(c) Date on which the Notes become [Not Applicable]/[The Notes shall be consolidated,
fungible: form a single series and be interchangeable for trading
purposes with the [insert description of the Series] on

[[insert date] /the Issue Date].

3 Specified Currency or Currencies: [o]
4  Aggregate Nominal Amount: [o]
(a) Series: [e]
(b) Tranche: [e]
5 Issue Price: [e] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus

accrued interest from [insert date] (if applicable)]

¢ Delete if not applicable.
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6 (a) Specified Denomination(s):

(b) Calculation Amount:

7 (a) Issue Date:

(b) Interest Commencement Date:

8  Maturity Date:

9 Interest Basis:

10 Redemption/Payment Basis:

11 Put/Call Options:

12 (a) Status of the Notes:

(b) Date Board approval for issuance of
Notes obtained:

[e]

(The minimum Specified Denomination shall be at
least €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other
currency). The Notes may have multiple Specified
Denominations, provided that the larger Specified
Denominations are integral multiples of the smaller
Specified Denominations.)

[e]

(If there is only one Specified Denomination, insert
the Specified Denomination. If more than one
Specified Denomination, insert the highest common
factor. Note: There must be a common factor in the
case of two or more Specified Denominations.)

[e]

[Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]
(N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be
applicable for Zero Coupon Notes.)

[specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest
Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant
month and year]

[[®] per cent. fixed rate]

[[[®] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]] +/- [e®] per cent.
floating rate]

[Zero Coupon]

(see paragraph [13]/[14]/[15] below)

Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early
redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the
Maturity Date at [[®]/[100]] per cent. of their nominal
amount

[Change of Control Put Option]

[Put Option]

[Call Option]

[Tax Call Option]

[Make Whole/Three-Month Par Call Option]

[(see paragraph [16]/[17]/[18]/[19]/[20] below)]

[Not Applicable]

Senior

[e]

(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar)

authorisation is required for the particular tranche of
Notes)
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PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

13

14

Fixed Rate Note Provisions

(a)

(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)

®

Rate(s) of Interest:

Interest Payment Date(s):
Day Count Fraction:
Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]:

Broken Amount(s):

Determination Date(s):

Floating Rate Note Provisions

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)
®
(2

(h)

(1)

Specified Period(s):

Specified Interest Payment Date(s):

First Interest Payment Date:

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s):
Interest Business Day Jurisdiction:

Manner in which the Rate(s) of
Interest is/are to be determined:

Party responsible for calculating the
Rate(s) of Interest and/or Interest
Amount(s):

Screen Rate Determination:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(f not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[®] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each
Interest Payment Date

[®] in each year up to and including the Maturity Date
[30/360] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]

[®] per Calculation Amount

[[®] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest
Payment Date falling [in/on] [@]]/[Not Applicable]
[[®] in each year]/[Not Applicable]

(insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue
date or maturity date in the case of a long or short

first or last coupon, N.B. relevant only where Day
Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA))

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[®] [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
Business Day Convention set out in (d) below /, not
subject to any adjustment, as the Business Day
Convention in (d) below is specified to be Not
Applicable]

[®] in each year[, subject to adjustment in accordance
with the Business Day Convention set out in (d)
below/, not subject to any adjustment, as the Business
Day Convention in (d) below is specified to be Not
Applicable]

[e]

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified
Following  Business Day  Convention]/[Not
Applicable]

[e]
[e]

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]

[Agent]/[ [e]]
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e  Reference Rate:

e Interest Determination Date(s):

e  Relevant Screen Page:

(G) ISDA Determination:

e  Floating Rate Option:
e  Designated Maturity:

° Reset Date:

e  ISDA Definitions:
(k) Linear Interpolation:

(1) Margin(s):
(m) Minimum Rate of Interest:
(n) Maximum Rate of Interest:

(o) Day Count Fraction:

15  Zero Coupon Note Provisions

(a) Amortisation Yield:

(b) Day Count Fraction in relation to

Early Redemption Amounts:

[e] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]

[e]

(Second London business day prior to the start of each
Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or euro
LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if Sterling
LIBOR and the second day on which the TARGET?2

System is open prior to the start of each Interest
Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR)

[e]

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBOR01
ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate)

[e]

[e]

[e]

(In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option,
the first day of the Interest Period)

2006

[Not Applicable/Applicable — the Rate of Interest for
the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be
calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for each
short or long interest period)|

[+/-][®] per cent. per annum

[e] per cent. per annum

[®] per cent. per annum

[[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual]

[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360][360/360][Bond Basis]

[30E/360][Eurobond basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[®] per cent. per annum

[e]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

16  Call Option:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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17

18

19

20

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):

(b) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of
each Note:

(c) Ifredeemable in part:

(1) Minimum Redemption Amount:

(i)  Maximum Redemption Amount:

(d) Notice period:

Put Option:

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):

(b) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of
each Note:

(c) Notice period:

Change of Control Put Option:

(a)

Redemption Rate:

Tax Call Option:

Make Whole/Three-Month Par Call Option:

(a)

(b)
(©
(d)

Notice period:

Margin(s):
Reference Stock:

Reference Dealers:
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0/ delete  the
subparagraphs of this paragraph. The Call Option

not applicable, remaining

should only be specified to be applicable if the
Prohibition of Sales to Consumers is specified to be
applicable.)

[e]

[[®] per Calculation Amount]/[Early Redemption
Amount]

[[®] per Calculation Amount]/[Not Applicable]
[[®] per Calculation Amount]/[Not Applicable]

Minimum period: [15] days
Maximum period: [30] days
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

0/a delete
subparagraphs of this paragraph.)

[e]

[[®#] per Calculation Amount]/[Early Redemption

not  applicable, the  remaining

Amount]

Minimum period: [15] days
Maximum period: [30] days
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraph
of this paragraph.)

[e]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(The Tax Call Option should only be specified to be
applicable if the Prohibition of Sales to Consumers is
specified to be applicable.)

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraph
of this paragraph. The Make Whole/Three-Month Par
Call Option should only be specified to be applicable
if the Prohibition of Sales to Consumers is specified
to be applicable.)

Minimum period: [15] days
Maximum period: [30] days
[[+/-][®] per cent. per annum]/[Not Applicable]

[e]
[e]



(e) Determination Date: [o]

(f) Determination Time: [®] [a.m./p.m. [@] time]

21 Final Redemption Amount of each Note: [Par]/[®] per Calculation Amount

22 Early Redemption  Amount(s) per [Par]/[e] per Calculation Amount
Calculation Amount payable on redemption

for taxation reasons or on event of default or
other early redemption:
GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

23 Form of Notes: Dematerialised form

[THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

[[Relevant third party information] has been extracted from [specify source]. The Issuer confirms that such
information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from
information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading.]]

Signed on behalf of Immobel SA:

By:

Duly authorised
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PART B - OTHER INFORMATION
LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

@) Listing and admission to trading: [Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its
behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [the
regulated market of Euronext Brussels/specify] with
effect from [e].]

[Not Applicable.]

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate
that original Notes are already admitted to trading.)

(ii)) Estimate of total expenses related to [e]
admission to trading:

RATINGS

Ratings: [Not Applicable]/[The Notes to be issued [[have
been]/[are expected to be]] rated]/[The following
ratings reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this type
issued under the Programme generally]:

[S & P: [e]]
[Moody’s: [®]]
[Fitch: [e]]
[[Other]: [o]]
(Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of
the ratings if this has previously been published by the
rating provider.)
INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

(Need to include a description of any interest, including a conflict of interest, that is material to the issue,
detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the inclusion of the
statement below.)

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in
the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the issue. The [Managers/Dealers] and their affiliates
have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking
transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course
of business — (Admend as appropriate if there are other interests).]

(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described
constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base
Prospectus under Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.)

REASONS FOR THE ISSUE AND ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS

@) Reasons for the issue: [See limb (i) of the section “Use of Proceeds” in the
Base Prospectus]/ [to [finance/refinance] Eligible
Assets as more specifically described [under “Use of

i3]

Proceeds” and “Green Finance Framework™ in the

Base Prospectus] [[and]below]/[give details].

(See limb (i) of the section “Use of Proceeds”
wording in Base Prospectus — if reasons for issue
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(i)  Estimated net proceeds:

YIELD (FIXED RATE NOTES ONLY)

Indication of yield:

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

@) ISIN:
(i)  Common Code:

(i) CFL:

(iv)  FISN:

(v)  Any settlement system(s) other than the

NBB Securities Settlement System,
Euroclear Bank SA/NV, Clearstream

Banking AG, Frankfurt,

SIX SIS AG,

Monte Titoli S.p.A, Interbolsa S.A.,
Euroclear France S.A. and LuxCSD S.A.
and the relevant identification number(s):

(vi)  Delivery:

(vil) Names and addresses
Paying Agent(s) (if any):

(viii) [Relevant Benchmark([s]:

of additional
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different from what is disclosed in the Base
Prospectus, give details.)

[e]

([e]

The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis
of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future
yield.]/[Not Applicable]

[e]
(o]

[[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on] the
website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that
assigned the ISIN]/[Not Applicable]/[Not Available]

[[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on] the
website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that
assigned the ISIN]/[Not Applicable]/[Not Available]

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]

Delivery [against/free of] payment

(o]

[Not Applicable]/[[specify benchmark] is provided by
[administrator legal name]. As at the date hereof,
[administrator legal name] [appears]/[does not
appear] in the register of administrators and
benchmarks established and maintained by the
European Securities and Markets Authority pursuant
to Article 36 of Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June
2016 (the “Benchmarks Regulation™)/[As far as the
Issuer is aware, as at the date hereof, [[specify
benchmark] does not fall within the scope of the
Benchmarks Regulation]/[the transitional provisions



(ix) Intended to be held in a manner which
would allow Eurosystem eligibility:

DISTRIBUTION

(1) Method of distribution:

(i)  If syndicated:

(A) Names of Managers:
(B) Date of [Subscription] Agreement:

(iii)  If non-syndicated, name of Dealer:

(iv)  U.S. Selling Restrictions (Categories of
potential investors to which the Notes are
offered):

(v)  Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail
Investors:

(vi)  Prohibition of Sales to Consumers:

(vii)  Other selling restrictions:
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in Article 51 of the Benchmarks Regulation apply
such that [administrator legal name] is not required to
be included in the register of administrators and
benchmarks established and maintained by the
European Securities and Markets Authority].]]

[Yes. Note that the designation “yes” does not
necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as
eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy
and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem
either upon issue or at any or all times during their life.
Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being
satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been
met.]

/

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as “no” at the
date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem
eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that
the Notes are capable of meeting them, the Notes may
then be recognised as eligible collateral for
Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit
operations by the Eurosystem at any time during their
life. Note that this does not necessarily mean that the
Notes will then be recognised. Such recognition will
depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem
eligibility criteria have been met.]

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

[Not Applicable/give names]
[e]
[Not Applicable/give name]

[Reg. S Compliance Category 1; TEFRA D/ TEFRA
C/ TEFRA not applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged”
products or the Notes do constitute “packaged”
products and a key information document will be
prepared, “Not Applicable” should be specified. If the
Notes may constitute “packaged” products and no key
information document will be prepared, “Applicable”
should be specified.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[e]



(viii) X-only Issuance [Applicable/Not Applicable]
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions (the “Conditions”) that, subject to completion and as
supplemented in accordance with the provisions of Part A of the applicable Final Terms, shall be applicable
to the Notes. All capitalised terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to
them or refer to information specified in Part A of the relevant Final Terms. References in the Conditions to
“Notes” are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under Immobel SA’s (the
“Issuer”’) Euro Medium Term Notes programme (the “Programme”). In these Conditions, terms in italics
are for information purposes only and do not form part of the Conditions.

The Notes are issued subject to a paying, calculation and listing agency agreement dated on or about the date
of this Base Prospectus (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Agency Agreement”) between
the Issuer and Belfius Bank SA/NV as paying agent (the “Agent”, which expression shall include any
successor paying agent), as listing agent and as calculation agent. The calculation agent for the time being
(if any) is referred to below as the “Calculation Agent”. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final
Terms, the Agent will act as the Calculation Agent. The Noteholders (as defined below) are deemed to have
notice of all of the provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them.

The Conditions are governed by and construed in accordance with Belgian law in effect as at the date of
this Base Prospectus and have been drawn up on that basis. No assurance can be given as to the impact of
any legislative or regulatory change or reform, judicial decision or change in the interpretation of
administrative practice of Belgium, which may occur after the Issue Date of Notes. Any such decision or
change may affect the enforceability of the Noteholders’ rights under the Conditions or render the exercise
of such rights more difficult.

As used in the Conditions, “Tranche” means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing
and admission to trading) and “Series” means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or
Tranches of Notes which (a) are expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (b) have the same
terms and conditions or terms and conditions which are the same in all respects save for the issue price, the
date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue.

In the Conditions, “euro”, “EUR” and “€” means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of
the European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European
Union, as amended.

Copies of the Agency Agreement are available for inspection free of charge at the statutory seat of the Agent.
If the Notes are listed and admitted to trading on the regulated market of Euronext Brussels, the applicable
Final Terms will be published on the website of the Issuer. In the case of Exempt Notes (as defined below)
only, the applicable Pricing Supplement will only be obtainable at the statutory seats of the Issuer and of the
Agent by a Noteholder holding one or more relevant Exempt Notes and such Noteholder must produce
evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the Agent as to its holding of such Exempt Notes and identity.

The final terms for the Notes (other than Exempt Notes) (or the relevant provisions thereof) set out in Part
A of the Final Terms should be read together with the Conditions set out below, and shall together constitute
the terms and conditions applicable to such Notes. For Notes which are neither admitted to trading on a
regulated market in the EEA nor offered in the EEA in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be
published under the Prospectus Regulation (“Exempt Notes”) only, the final terms (or the relevant
provisions thereof) which may supplement, replace or modify the Conditions are set out in Part A of the
Pricing Supplement . In relation to Notes other than Exempt Notes, references to the “applicable Final
Terms” are to Part A of the Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) which shall, together with the
Conditions, constitute the terms and conditions applicable to such Notes. In relation to Exempt Notes only,
any reference in the Conditions to “applicable Final Terms” shall be deemed to include a reference to the
applicable Pricing Supplement, where relevant.
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The expression “Prospectus Regulation” means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended from time to time.
Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes will be issued in dematerialised form in accordance with the provisions of the Belgian Companies
and Associations Code (Wetboek van vennootschappen en verenigingen/Code des sociétés et des
associations dated 23 March 2019), as amended from time to time (the “Belgian Companies and
Associations Code”). The Notes will be represented exclusively by book entry in the records of the securities
settlement system operated by the NBB or any successor thereto (the “NBB Securities Settlement System™).
The Notes can be held by their holders through participants in the NBB Securities Settlement System,
including Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”), Clearstream Banking AG, Frankfurt (“Clearstream”),
SIX SIS AG, Switzerland (“SIX SIS”), Monte Titoli S.p.A, Italy (“Monte Titoli”), Interbolsa S.A.
(“Interbolsa”), Euroclear France S.A. (“Euroclear France”) and LuxCSD S.A. (“LuxCSD”) and through
other financial intermediaries which in turn hold the Notes through Euroclear, Clearstream, SIX SIS, Monte
Titoli, Interbolsa, Euroclear France, LuxCSD or other participants in the NBB Securities Settlement System
(for a list of all the NBB Securities Settlement System participants, please refer to https://www.nbb.be/nl/list-
nbb-investor-icsds). The Notes are accepted for settlement through the NBB Securities Settlement System,
and are accordingly subject to the applicable Belgian securities settlement regulations, including the Belgian
law of 6 August 1993 on transactions in certain securities, as amended, its implementing Belgian Royal
Decrees of 26 May 1994 and 14 June 1994, each as amended, and the rules of the NBB Securities Settlement
System and its annexes, as issued or modified by the NBB from time to time (the laws, decrees and rules
mentioned in this Condition being referred to herein as the “NBB Securities Settlement System
Regulations™). Title to the Notes will pass by account transfer. The Noteholders will not be entitled to
exchange the Notes into bearer form.

If at any time the Notes are transferred to another securities settlement system, not operated or not exclusively
operated by the NBB, these provisions shall apply mutatis mutandis to such successor securities settlement
system and successor securities settlement system operator or any additional securities settlement system
and additional securities settlement system operator.

Noteholders are entitled to exercise the rights they have, including voting rights, making requests, giving
consents, and other associative rights (as defined for the purposes of Article 7:41 of the Belgian Companies
and Associations Code) upon submission of an affidavit drawn up by the NBB, Euroclear, Clearstream or
any other participant duly licenced in Belgium to keep dematerialised securities accounts showing such
holder’s position in the Notes (or the position held by the financial institution through which such holder’s
Notes are held with the NBB, Euroclear, Clearstream or such other participant, in which case an affidavit
drawn up by that financial institution will also be required).

If the applicable Final Terms specify the “X-only Issuance” as applicable, the Notes may be held only, and
transferred only to, Eligible Investors, as defined below.

The Notes are issued in the Specified Denomination(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms. The minimum
Specified Denomination shall be at least €1,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency).

The Notes may have multiple Specified Denominations, provided that the larger Specified Denominations
are integral multiples of the smaller Specified Denominations. If the minimum Specified Denomination of
Notes of a Series is €1,000, such Notes will only be tradeable in integral multiples of €1,000.

The Notes may be Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes, Zero Coupon Notes or a combination of any of
the foregoing, depending upon the Interest and Redemption/Payment Basis specified in the applicable Final
Terms.

In the Conditions, “Noteholder” and “holder” mean, in respect of any Note, the holder from time to time of
the Notes as determined by reference to the records of the relevant securities settlement systems or financial
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intermediaries and the affidavits referred to in this Condition 1 and capitalised terms have the meanings
given to them in the applicable Final Terms, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is
not applicable to the Notes.

“Eligible Investor” means those entities which are referred to in Article 4 of the Belgian Royal Decree of
26 May 1994 on the deduction of withholding tax (as amended from time to time) and which hold the Notes
in an exempt account in the NBB Securities Settlement System.

Status

The Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 3 (Negative Pledge))
unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among
themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes shall, save for such exceptions as may be
provided by applicable legislation and subject to Condition 3 (Negative Pledge), at all times rank at least
equally with all its respective other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations.

Negative Pledge

So long as any Note remains outstanding, the Issuer shall not, and shall ensure that no Subsidiary (other than
any Excluded Entity) will, create or permit to subsist any Security over any of its assets or business to secure
any Relevant Indebtedness without at the same time or prior thereto granting to the Notes the same such
Security as is created or subsisting or such other Security as either (i) shall not be materially less beneficial
to the interest of the Noteholders or (ii) shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders.

For the purposes of the Conditions:

“Accounting Principles” means generally accepted accounting principles in the jurisdiction of incorporation
of the relevant member of the Group and, in relation to consolidated financial statements of the Issuer, [FRS;

“Excluded Entity” means any entity:
(1) which is consolidated by the Issuer;

(i)  in respect of which a member of the Group has entered into a joint venture arrangement with third
parties; and

(i)  of which the Issuer owns (directly or indirectly) less than 70% of the outstanding share capital;
“Financial Indebtedness” means any indebtedness for or in respect of:

(1) moneys borrowed;

(i)  any amount raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility or dematerialised equivalent;

(iii) any amount raised pursuant to any note purchase facility or the issue of bonds, notes, debentures,
loan stock or any similar instrument;

(iv)  the amount of any liability in respect of any lease or hire purchase contract which would, in
accordance with the Accounting Principles, be treated as a finance or capital lease;

(v)  receivables sold or discounted (other than any receivables to the extent they are sold on a non-recourse
basis and meet any requirement for de-recognition under the Accounting Principles);

(vi) any amount raised under any other transaction (including any forward sale or purchase agreement)
having the commercial effect of a borrowing and which is treated as a borrowing under the
Accounting Principles;
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(vii) any derivative transaction entered into in connection with protection against or benefit from
fluctuation in any rate or price (and, when calculating the value of any derivative transaction, only
the marked to market value shall be taken into account);

(viii) shares which are expressed to be redeemable and which are classified as borrowings under the
Accounting Principles;

(ix)  any counter-indemnity obligation in respect of a guarantee, indemnity, bond, standby or documentary
letter of credit or any other instrument issued by a bank or financial institution; and

(x)  the amount of any liability in respect of any guarantee or indemnity for any of the items referred to
in paragraphs (i) to (ix) above;

“Group” means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries for the time being;

“IFRS” means international accounting standards within the meaning of the IAS Regulation 1606/2002 to
the extent applicable to the relevant financial statements;

“Relevant Indebtedness” means any Financial Indebtedness which is in the form of or represented by any
bond, debenture, debenture stock, loan stock, certificate or other instrument which is, or is capable of being,
listed, quoted or traded on any stock exchange or in any securities market (including, without limitation, any
over-the-counter market);

“Security” means a mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other security interest securing any obligation of any
person or any other agreement or arrangement having a similar effect; and

“Subsidiary” (dochtervennootschap/filiale) of a company shall have the meaning set forth in Article 1:15
of the Belgian Companies and Associations Code.

Interest

The applicable Final Terms will indicate whether the Notes are Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes or
Zero Coupon Notes or, in the case of Exempt Notes only, whether a different interest basis applies.

4.1 Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

This Condition 4.1 applies to Fixed Rate Notes only. The applicable Final Terms contains provisions
applicable to the determination of the fixed rate interest and must be read in conjunction with this
Condition 4.1 for full information on the manner in which interest is calculated on Fixed Rate Notes.

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from (and including) the
Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate(s)
of Interest. Interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year up to (and
including) the Maturity Date.

As used in the Conditions, “Fixed Interest Period” means the period from (and including) an Interest
Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest
Payment Date.

Interest shall be calculated in respect of any Fixed Interest Period by applying the Rate of Interest to
the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes and multiplying such sum by the Day Count
Fraction.

The resultant figure shall be rounded to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half
of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with the applicable market
convention.
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4.2
(@)

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest, in accordance
with this Condition 4.1:

(1) if “Actual/Actual (ICMA)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms:

(A) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including)
the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to
(but excluding) the relevant payment date (the “Accrual Period”) is equal to or shorter
than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days
in such Accrual Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such
Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the
applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar year; or

(B) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period
during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:

(1) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in
which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in
such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would
occur in one calendar year; and

(2) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period
divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and
(y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year; and

(i) if “30/360” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the period from
(and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement
Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such number of days being calculated on
the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months) divided by 360; and

“Determination Period” means each period from (and including) a Determination Date to (but
excluding) the next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or
the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first
Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date).

Interest on Floating Rate Notes

Interest Payment Dates

This Condition 4.2 applies to Floating Rate Notes only. The applicable Final Terms contains
provisions applicable to the determination of the floating rate interest and must be read in conjunction
with this Condition 4.2 for full information on the manner in which interest is calculated on Floating
Rate Notes.

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from (and including) the
Interest Commencement Date and such interest will be payable in arrear on either:

(i) the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms; or

(i) ifno Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Final Terms, each date
(each such date, together with each Specified Interest Payment Date, an “Interest Payment
Date”) falling the number of days or months of a Specified Period set out in the applicable Final
Terms after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment
Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period. In these Conditions, “Interest Period”
means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement
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(b)

Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date or the relevant payment date if the
Notes become payable on a date other than an Interest Payment Date.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms and (x) if there is no
numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur
or (y) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then,
if the Business Day Convention specified is:

(i) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the
next day which is a Business Day; or

(i) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be
postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next
calendar month, in which event (A) except in the case of the Maturity Date, such Interest
Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day, and (B) in
the case of the Maturity Date, such date shall not be amended.

In these Conditions, “Business Day” means:

(i) in relation to all Notes other than those denominated in euro, a day (other than a Saturday or
Sunday) on which (A) commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in
Belgium and (B) commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in each
Additional Business Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(i) in relation to Notes denominated in euro, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) (A) on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in Belgium, (B) on which the
NBB Securities Settlement System is operating and (C) (if a payment in euro is to be made on
that day) which is a day on which the TARGET 2 System is operating (a “TARGET Business
Day”), and in relation to both (i) and (ii) above, such other day as may be agreed between the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified as an Interest Business Day Jurisdiction in the
applicable Final Terms.

Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes will be determined
in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(i) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which
the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the
relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if
any). For the purposes of this subparagraph (i), “ISDA Rate” for an Interest Period means a rate
equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable, under an interest rate swap transaction if the Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable, were acting as Calculation Agent (as defined in the ISDA Definitions (as defined
below)) for that swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA
Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. and as
the same may be amended and supplemented as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the
Notes (the “ISDA Definitions”) and under which:

(A) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final Terms;
(B) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(C) the relevant Reset Date is the day specified in the applicable Final Terms.
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(i)

For the purposes of this subparagraph (i), “Floating Rate”, “Floating Rate Option”,

“Designated Maturity” and “Reset Date” have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA

Definitions.

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms, the Minimum Rate of Interest shall be

deemed to be zero.

Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes

(A) Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner

(B)

©

in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest
Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

(1) the offered quotation; or

(2) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005
being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the rate specified as reference rate in the
applicable Final Terms (the “Reference Rate”) (being either LIBOR or EURIBOR, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms) which appears or appear, as the case may be, on
the Relevant Screen Page (or such replacement page on that service which displays the
information) as at 11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the
case of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent
or the Calculation Agent, as applicable. If five or more of such offered quotations are
available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such
highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than
one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Agent
or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean
(rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if sub-paragraph (A)(1) applies and no such
offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page or if sub-paragraph (A)(2) applies
and fewer than three such offered quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page, in each
case as at the time specified above, subject as provided below, the Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, shall request, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the principal London
office of each of the Reference Banks or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the principal
Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks, to provide the Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum)
for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m.
(London time), or if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m.
(Brussels time) on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the
Reference Banks provide the Agent or Calculation Agent, as applicable, with such offered
quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean of
such offered quotations as determined by the Calculation Agent; and

If paragraph (B) above applies and the Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable,
determines that fewer than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject
as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum
(expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the request of) the Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at
which such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00
a.m. (London time) or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m.
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(©)

(d)

(Brussels time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified
Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by
leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if the
Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, as the case may be, or, if
fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable, with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency
for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the
arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period
equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, if the
Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time) or, if the Reference
Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time), on the relevant Interest
Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion
of the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable, it is quoting to leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London
inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market,
as the case may be, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in
accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be
determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting,
where a different Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest is to
be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding
Interest Period, the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest
relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest
or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms, the Minimum Rate of Interest shall
be deemed to be zero.

In these Conditions, “Reference Banks” means the institutions specified as such in the relevant Final
Terms or, if none, four (4) major banks selected by the Calculation Agent in the interbank market (or,
if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index options market) that is most closely connected
with the Original Reference Rate (which, if EURIBOR is the Reference Rate, is the principal Euro-
zone office, and if LIBOR is the relevant Reference Rate, shall be London).

Minimum Rate of Interest and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in
the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the
provisions of paragraph (b) above is less than such Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for
such Interest Period shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest.

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in
the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the
provisions of paragraph (b) above is greater than such Maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest
for such Interest Period shall be such Maximum Rate of Interest.

Determination of Rate of Interest and calculation of Interest Amounts

The Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will, at or as soon as practicable after each time at
which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest
Period.

The Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will calculate the amount of interest (the “Interest
Amount”) payable on the Floating Rate Notes for any Interest Period. Such Interest Amount shall be
equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes,
and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Period. In respect of any other period for which interest
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is required to be calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction shall

be for the period for which interest is required to be calculated.

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest in accordance
with this Condition 4.2:

(1)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

if “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” or “Actual/Actual” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the
actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Interest
Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (I) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest
Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (II) the actual number of days in that portion of
the Interest Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in
the Interest Period divided by 365;

if “Actual/365 (Sterling)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days
in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap
year, 366;

if “Actual/360” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the
Interest Period divided by 360;

if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number
of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

360- I, - Y |+ B0- M, -M; )+ D, -D,|
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:
Y1 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

Y2 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of
the Interest Period falls;

M is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

M: is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

D1 is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number
is 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

D: is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which case
D2 will be 30;

if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days
in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

360- v, - Y, JJ+ 30- M, -M; Jl+ D, -D, )
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

Y1 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;
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(e)

Y: is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of
the Interest Period falls;

M is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

M: is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

D is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number
would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

D2 is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30;

(vii) if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the
Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

360- ', - Y ]+ 30- M, -M; )+ D, -D, |
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:
Y1 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

Y: is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of
the Interest Period falls;

M is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

M: is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

D1 is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is
the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

D2 is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or
(i1) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30.]

Linear Interpolation

Where Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the applicable
Final Terms, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based
on the relevant Reference Rate (where Screen Rate Determination is specified as applicable in the
applicable Final Terms) or the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination is specified
as applicable in the applicable Final Terms), one of which shall be determined as if the Applicable
Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the
relevant Interest Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the Applicable Maturity were
the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest
Period provided however that if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter or, as the
case may be, next longer, then the Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, shall determine such
rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.
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(a)

“Applicable Maturity” means: (a) in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the period of time
designated in the Reference Rate, and (b) in relation to ISDA Determination, the Designated Maturity.

Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts

The Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest
Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer
and any stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed (by
no later than the first day of each Interest Period) and notice thereof to be published in accordance
with Condition 11 (Notices) as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than the
fourth Business Day thereafter. Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may
subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment)
without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such
amendment will promptly be notified to each stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate
Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 11 (Notices).

Benchmark Discontinuation

This Condition 4.3 applies only where Screen Rate Determination is specified as applicable in the
applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined.

Independent Adviser

Notwithstanding the provisions in Condition 4.2 (Interest on Floating Rate Notes) above, if the Issuer
determines that a Benchmark Event has occurred in relation to an Original Reference Rate when any
Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to that Original
Reference Rate, then the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint, as soon as reasonably
practicable, an Independent Adviser to determine, following consultation with the Issuer and no later
than 10 calendar days prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date relating to the next succeeding
Interest Period (the “IA Determination Cut-off Date”), a Successor Rate or, failing which, an
Alternative Rate (in accordance with paragraph (b) below) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread
(in accordance with paragraph (c) below).

An Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 4.3 shall act in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner as an independent expert in the performance of its duties following
consultation with the Issuer. In the absence of fraud and wilful misconduct, the Independent Adviser
shall have no liability whatsoever to the Noteholders, the Agent or the Calculation Agent for any
determination it makes pursuant to this Condition 4.3. No Independent Adviser appointed in
connection with the Notes (acting in such capacity), shall have any relationship of agency or trust
with the Noteholders.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 4.3, if, following the occurrence of a
Benchmark Event, (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser; or (ii) the Independent
Adpviser fails to determine a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate in accordance with
this Condition 4.3 prior to the relevant IA Determination Cut-off Date, then the Rate of Interest
applicable to the next succeeding Interest Period shall be equal to the Rate of Interest last determined
in relation to the Notes in respect of the immediately preceding Interest Period. If there has not been
a first Interest Payment Date, the Rate of Interest shall be the initial Rate of Interest. Where a different
Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant
Interest Period from that which applied to the immediately preceding Interest Period, the Margin or
Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Period shall
be substituted in place of the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest
relating to that immediately preceding Interest Period. For the avoidance of doubt, this sub-paragraph
shall apply to the relevant next succeeding Interest Period only and any subsequent Interest Periods
are subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, this Condition 4.3.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

If the Independent Adviser, following consultation with the Issuer and acting in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner, determines that:

(i) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in
paragraph (c) below), subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine
the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of interest
on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 4.3); or

(i1) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate shall
(subject to adjustment as provided in paragraph (c) below) subsequently be used in place of the
Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part
thereof) for all future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this
Condition 4.3).

Following any such determination by the Independent Adviser, following consultation with the
Issuer, of a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate, as the case may be, the Issuer shall give notice
thereof in accordance with paragraph (f) below.

Adjustment Spread

The Adjustment Spread (or the formula or methodology for determining the Adjustment Spread) shall
be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

Following any such determination by the Independent Adviser, following consultation with the
Issuer, of the Adjustment Spread, the Issuer shall give notice thereof in accordance with paragraph
(f) below. The Agent or the Calculation Agent shall apply such Adjustment Spread to the Successor
Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) for each subsequent determination of a relevant Rate
of Interest (or any component part(s) thereof) by reference to such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate
(as applicable).

If the Independent Adviser is unable to determine the Adjustment Spread or the formula or
methodology for determining the Adjustment Spread, then the Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as
the case may be) will apply without an Adjustment Spread.

Benchmark Amendments

If any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and, in either case, the Adjustment
Spread is determined in accordance with this Condition 4.3 and the Independent Adviser, following
consultation with the Issuer and acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner,
determines (i) that amendments to these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement are necessary to
ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and, in
each case, the application of the Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the “Benchmark
Amendments”) and (ii) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, following
consultation with the Independent Adviser and subject to the Issuer giving notice thereof to the Agent,
the Calculation Agent and the Noteholders (in accordance with paragraph (f) below), without any
requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, vary these Conditions and/or the Agency
Agreement to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such
notice.

At the request of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Agent or the Calculation Agent of a certificate
validly signed by authorised signatory(ies) of the Issuer pursuant to this paragraph (d) below, the
Agent or Calculation Agent shall (at the expense and direction of the Issuer), without any requirement
for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, be obliged to concur with such determination by the
Independent Adviser (following consultation with the Issuer) in using its reasonable endeavours in
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(e)

)

(2

effecting any Benchmark Amendments (including, inter alia, by the execution of an agreement
supplemental to or amending the Agency Agreement) and the Agent or Calculation Agent shall not
be liable to any party for any consequences thereof, provided that the Agent or Calculation Agent
shall not be obliged so to concur if, in the opinion of the Agent or the Calculation Agent, doing so
would impose more onerous obligations upon it or expose it to any additional duties, responsibilities
or liabilities or reduce or amend the rights and/or the protective provisions afforded to it in these
Conditions and/or any documents to which it is a party (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any
supplemental agency agreement) in any way.

In connection with any such modifications in accordance with this paragraph (d), the Issuer and the
Independent Adviser shall comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notes are for
the time being listed or admitted to trading.

Survival of Original Reference Rate Provisions

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer or the Independent Adviser under this Condition 4.3,
the Original Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 4.2 (Interest on
Floating Rate Notes) will continue to apply unless and until (a) a Benchmark Event has occurred and
(b) the Independent Adviser, following consultation with the Issuer, has determined the Successor
Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), the Adjustment Spread and the Benchmark
Amendments (if any), in accordance with the relevant provisions of this Condition 4.3 and
Condition 4.2 (Interest on Floating Rate Notes) and the Issuer notifies the Agent or the Calculation
Agent of such determination.

Notices

Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark
Amendments determined under this Condition 4.3 will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Agent
or the Calculation Agent and, in accordance with Condition 11 (Notices), the Noteholders. Such
notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any.

No later than notifying the Agent or the Calculation Agent of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the
Agent or the Calculation Agent a certificate validly signed by authorised signatory(ies) of the Issuer:

(i) confirming (I) that a Benchmark Event has occurred, (II) the Successor Rate or, as the case may
be, the Alternative Rate, (III) any Adjustment Spread and (IV) the specific terms of any
Benchmark Amendments, in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this
Condition 4.3; and

(i) certifying that the Benchmark Amendments (if any) are necessary to ensure the proper operation
of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and, in each case, the application of the Adjustment
Spread.

The Agent or Calculation Agent (as the case may be) shall be entitled to rely on such certificate
(without enquiry or liability to any person) as sufficient evidence thereof. The Successor Rate or
Alternative Rate, the Adjustment Spread and the Benchmark Amendments (if any) specified in such
certificate will (in the absence of manifest error in the determination of the Successor Rate or
Alternative Rate, the Adjustment Spread and the Benchmark Amendments (if any) and without
prejudice to the ability of the Agent or Calculation Agent to rely on such certificate as aforesaid) be
binding on the Issuer, the Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Noteholders.

Definitions
In this Condition 4.3:
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“Adjustment Spread” means either a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero), or the
formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in either case to be applied to the Successor Rate or
the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:

(A) 1in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the
Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or (if no
such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate);

(B) the Independent Adviser, following consultation with the Issuer and acting in good faith and in
a commercially reasonable manner, determines is customarily applied to the relevant Successor
Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets
transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Original Reference Rate;
or (if the Independent Adviser determines that no such spread is customarily applied); and

(C) the Independent Adviser, following consultation with the Issuer and acting in good faith and in
a commercially reasonable manner, determines is recognised or acknowledged as being the
industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Original
Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative
Rate (as the case may be);

“Alternative Rate” means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent Adviser,
following consultation with the Issuer and acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable
manner, determines in accordance with paragraph (b) to use in place of the Original Reference Rate
in customary market usage in the international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining
floating rates of interest (or the relevant component thereof) in the same Specified Currency as the
Notes;

“Benchmark Event” means:

(A) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least five Business Days
or ceasing to exist; and/or

(B)  the making of a public statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it
has ceased or that it will, on or before a specified date, cease publishing the Original Reference
Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been
appointed that will continue publication of the Original Reference Rate); and/or

(C) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original
Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate has been or will, on or before a specified date,
be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; and/or

(D) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original
Reference Rate as a consequence of which the Original Reference Rate will, on or before a
specified date, be prohibited from being used either generally or in respect of the Notes; and/or

(E)  the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original
Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate will be (or will be deemed by such supervisor
to be) no longer representative of its relevant underlying market; and/or

(F) it has or will prior to the next Interest Determination Date become unlawful for the Agent, the
Calculation Agent or the Issuer to determine any payments due to be made to any Noteholders
using the Original Reference Rate (including, without limitation, under the Benchmarks
Regulation, if applicable),

provided that the Benchmark Event shall be deemed to occur (a) in the case of sub-paragraphs (B)
and (C) above, on the date of the cessation of publication of the Original Reference Rate or the
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4.5

4.6

discontinuation of the Original Reference Rate, as the case may be, (b) in the case of sub-paragraph
(D) above, on the date of the prohibition of the use of the Original Reference Rate and (c) in the case
of sub-paragraph (E) above, on the date with effect from which the Original Reference Rate will no
longer be (or will be deemed by the relevant supervisor to no longer be) representative of its relevant
underlying market and which is specified in the relevant public statement, and, in each case, not the
date of the relevant public statement;

“Independent Adviser” means an independent financial institution of international repute or an
independent financial adviser with experience in the international capital markets appointed by the
Issuer at its own expense and notified in writing to the Agent or the Calculation Agent;

“Original Reference Rate” means the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) originally specified
in the applicable Final Terms for the purposes of determining the relevant Rate of Interest (or any
component part(s) thereof) in respect of the Notes or (if applicable) any other Successor Rate or
Alternative Rate (or any component part(s) thereof) determined and applicable to the Notes pursuant
to the earlier operation of this Condition 4.3;

“Relevant Nominating Body” means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

(A) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates,
or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the
administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or

(B)  any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the
request of (A) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as
applicable) relates, (B) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible
for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable), (C) a group
of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities, or (D) the Financial
Stability Board or any part thereof; and

“Successor Rate” means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is
formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

Accrual of interest

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such Note) will
cease to bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless payment of principal is
improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue until whichever is the
earlier of:

(a)  the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Note have been paid; and

(b)  five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such
Note has been received by the Agent, and notice to that effect has been given to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 11 (Notices).

Step-up

The Rate of Interest applicable to any Series of Notes may be subject to a step-up pursuant to
Condition 8.1 (Adjusted Gearing Ratio).

Rounding

For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless otherwise
specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to the
nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 of a percentage point being
rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (provided that if the eighth

75



significant figure is a 5 or greater, the seventh significant figure shall be rounded up) and (z) all
currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with
half a unit being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest
yen. For these purposes “unit” means the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal
tender in the country(ies) of such currency.

5. Payments

5.1

52

53

54

5.5

Payment in euro

Without prejudice to the provisions of the Belgian Companies and Associations Code, payments in
euro of (i) principal in respect of the Notes, (ii) accrued interest payable on a redemption of the Notes
and (iii) any interest due on an Interest Payment Date in respect of the Notes will be made through
the Agent and the NBB Securities Settlement System in accordance with the NBB Securities
Settlement System Regulations. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes will be
discharged by payment to the Agent in respect of each amount so paid. Each payment will be made
in euro by transfer to a euro account maintained by the payee with a bank in a city in which banks
have access to the TARGET System.

Payment in other currencies

Without prejudice to the provisions of the Belgian Companies and Associations Code, payments in
any currency other than euro of (i) principal in respect of the Notes, (ii) accrued interest payable on a
redemption of the Notes and (iii) any interest due on an Interest Payment Date in respect of the Notes
will be made through the Agent. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes will be
discharged by payment to the Agent in respect of each amount so paid.

Payments Subject to Fiscal Laws

All payments are subject in all cases to (i) any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and
directives in the place of payments, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 7 (Taxation)
and (ii) any withholding or deduction imposed pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b)
of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections
1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations
thereof, or (without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 7 (Taxation)) any law implementing an
intergovernmental approach thereto. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders
in respect of such payments.

Appointment of Agents

The Agent and the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified
offices are listed in the applicable Final Terms. The Agent and the Calculation Agent act solely as
agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with
any Noteholder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the
Agent or the Calculation Agent provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) an Agent, (ii) a
Calculation Agent where the Conditions so require, and (iii) such other agents as may be required by
any stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed.

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the
Noteholders.

Payments on Business Days

If any date for payment in respect of the Notes is not a Business Day and no Business Day Convention
is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next
following Business Day, nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. For
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5.6

the purpose of calculating the interest amount payable under the Notes, the Interest Payment Date
shall not be adjusted.

Interpretation of principal and interest

Any reference in the Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as
applicable:

(a)  any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 7
(Taxation);

(b)  the Final Redemption Amount of the Notes;
()  the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes;
(d)  the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any) of the Notes; and

(e)  any premium and any other amounts (other than interest) which may be payable by the Issuer
under or in respect of the Notes.

Any reference in the Conditions to interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as
applicable, any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under Condition 7
(Taxation).

Redemption and Purchase

6.1

6.2

(a)

Redemption at maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note will be
redeemed by the Issuer at its Final Redemption Amount (which, unless otherwise provided in the
applicable Final Terms, is its nominal amount) in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity
Date specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Early Redemption

Zero Coupon Notes

(1) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note, upon redemption
of such Zero Coupon Note pursuant to Condition 6.3 (Redemption for tax reasons),
Condition 6.4 (Redemption at the option of the Issuer) or Condition 6.6 (b) (Other Put Option
(Investor Put)) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 (Events of
Default) shall be the Amortised Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Zero
Coupon Note, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(i) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (iii) below, the “Amortised Face Amount” of any
such Zero Coupon Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Zero Coupon
Note on the Maturity Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to
the Amortisation Yield (which, if none is specified in the applicable Final Terms, shall be such
rate as would produce an Amortised Face Amount equal to the issue price of the Zero Coupon
Notes if they were discounted back to their issue price on the Issue Date) compounded annually.

(iii) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Zero Coupon Note upon its
redemption pursuant to Condition 6.3 (Redemption for tax reasons), Condition 6.4 (Redemption
at the option of the Issuer) or Condition 6.6 (b) (Other Put Option (Investor Put)) or upon it
becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 (Events of Default) is not paid when
due, the Early Redemption Amount due and payable in respect of such Zero Coupon Note shall
be the Amortised Face Amount of such Zero Coupon Note as defined in sub-paragraph (ii)
above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as though the date on which the Zero
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(b)

6.3

6.4

Coupon Note becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date. The calculation of the
Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall continue to be made (both
before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on or after
the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the scheduled Final
Redemption Amount of such Zero Coupon Note on the Maturity Date together with any accrued
interest.

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the
basis of the Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Other Notes

The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Zero Coupon Notes
described in paragraph (a) above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6.3
(Redemption for tax reasons), Condition 6.4 (Redemption at the option of the Issuer) or Condition 6.6
(b) (Other Put Option (Investor Put)) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition
10 (Events of Default), shall be the Final Redemption Amount, together with accrued interest, if
applicable, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Redemption for tax reasons

If both the Tax Call Option and the Prohibition of Sales to Consumers are specified as applicable in
the applicable Final Terms, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not
in part, on any Interest Payment Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note) or at any time (if this Note
is not a Floating Rate Note), on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the
Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in
Condition 6.2 (Early Redemption) above) (together with interest accrued to the date fixed for
redemption, if any), if (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided
or referred to in Condition 7 (Taxation) as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or
regulations of the Kingdom of Belgium or, in each case, any political subdivision or any authority
thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of
such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which
agreement is reached to issue the first Tranche of the Notes, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided
by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption
shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to
pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. Prior to the publication
of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 6.3, the Issuer shall deliver to the Agent a
certificate validly signed by authorised signatory(ies) of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to
effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to
the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and an opinion of an independent legal adviser of
recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional
amounts as a result of such change or amendment. For the avoidance of doubt, such opinion shall not
address whether the relevant obligations can be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures
available to it.

Redemption at the option of the Issuer

If both the Call Option and the Prohibition of Sales to Consumers are specified as applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ irrevocable
notice to the Noteholders (or such other notice period as may be specified in the applicable Final
Terms), redeem all or, if so provided, some of the Notes on any Optional Redemption Date. Any such
redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Final
Terms (which may be the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6.2 (Early
Redemption) above)), together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption, if any. Any such
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6.5

redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum
Redemption Amount to be redeemed as specified in the applicable Final Terms and no greater than
the Maximum Redemption Amount to be redeemed as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in such
notice in accordance with this Condition 6.4.

Make Whole Redemption/Three-Month Par Call at the option of the Issuer

If both the Make Whole/Three-Month Par Call Option and the Prohibition of Sales to Consumers are
specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 15 nor
more than 30 days’ notice (or such other notice period as may be specified in the applicable Final
Terms) to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for
redemption) (the “Make Whole/Three-Month Par Call Optional Redemption Date”), redeem all,
but not some only, of the Notes at a redemption price per Note equal to:

(i) if the Make Whole/Three-Month Par Call Optional Redemption Date falls in the period up to
and including the date falling three months prior to the Maturity Date, such amount per Note as
is equal to the higher of the amounts in (A) and (B) below, as calculated by the Calculation
Agent, in each case together with interest accrued to but excluding the Make Whole/Three-
Month Par Call Optional Redemption Date:

(A) the nominal amount of the Note; and

(B) the sum of the then current values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and
interest (not including any interest accrued on the Notes to, but excluding, the Make
Whole/Three-Month Par Call Optional Redemption Date) discounted to the Make
Whole/Three-Month Par Call Optional Redemption Date on an annual basis (based on the
Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Final Terms) at the Reference Dealer Rate
(as defined below) plus any Margin specified in the applicable Final Terms, in each case
as determined by the Reference Dealers; and

(i) if the Make Whole/Three-Month Par Call Optional Redemption Date falls in the period from
but excluding the date falling three months prior to the Maturity Date to but excluding the
Maturity Date, such amount per Note as is equal to the nominal amount outstanding of the
relevant Note together with interest accrued to but excluding the Make Whole/Three-Month Par
Call Optional Redemption Date.

Any notice of redemption given under this Condition 6.5 will override any notice of redemption given
(whether previously, on the same date or subsequently) under Condition 6.6 (Redemption at the
Option of Noteholders).

In this Condition:
“Reference Dealers” means those Reference Dealers specified in the applicable Final Terms;

“Reference Dealer Rate” means with respect to the Reference Dealers and the Make Whole/Three-
Month Par Call Optional Redemption Date, the average of the five quotations of the mid-market
annual yield to maturity of the Reference Stock or, if the Reference Stock is no longer outstanding, a
similar security in the reasonable judgment of the Reference Dealers, at the Determination Time and
on the Determination Date in each case specified in the applicable Final Terms, quoted in writing to
the Issuer by the Reference Dealers; and

“Reference Stock” means the Reference Stock specified in the applicable Final Terms.
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6.6
(@

Redemption at the Option of Noteholders

Upon a Change of Control (Change of Control Put Option)

(1)

Change of Control

If the Change of Control Put Option is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the
Issuer shall, within 10 TARGET Business Days following a Change of Control, give notice
thereof to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 11 (Notices) with a copy to the Agent
(the “Change of Control Notice”). The Change of Control Notice shall contain a statement
informing the Noteholders of their entitlement to exercise their rights to require redemption of
their Notes.

The Change of Control Notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the following information:

(A) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, information on the nature of the Change
of Control;

(B) the last day of the Change of Control Put Exercise Period;

(C) the date on which the Notes will be repaid, which shall be the date falling fourteen
Business Days after the Change of Control Exercise Period (the “Change of Control Put
Date”); and

(D) the Put Redemption Amount.

The Agent shall not be required to monitor or take any steps to ascertain whether a Change of
Control or any event which could lead to a Change of Control has occurred or may occur and
will not be responsible or liable to Noteholders or any other person for any loss arising from
any failure by it to do so.

For the purposes of these Conditions:

A “Change of Control” shall occur if an offer is made by any person (other than an Excepted
Person) to all (or as nearly as may be practicable all) Shareholders (or all (or as nearly as may
be practicable all) such Shareholders other than the offeror and/or any parties acting in concert
(as defined in Article 3, paragraph 1, 5° of the Belgian Law of 1 April 2007 on public takeover
bids or any modification or re-enactment thereof) with the offeror), to acquire all or a majority
of the issued ordinary share capital of the Issuer and (the period of such offer being closed, the
definitive results of such offer having been announced and such offer having become
unconditional in all respects) the offeror has acquired or, following the publication of the results
of such offer by the offeror, is entitled to acquire as a result of such offer, post completion
thereof, Ordinary Shares or other voting rights of the Issuer so that it has either the direct or
indirect ownership of more than 50% of the voting rights in the Issuer, whereby the date on
which the Change of Control shall be deemed to have occurred shall be the date of the
publication by the offeror of the results of the relevant offer (and for the sake of clarity prior to
any reopening of the offer in accordance with Article 42 of the Royal Decree of 27 April 2007
on Public Takeover Bids);

“Excepted Person” means A* Capital NV, A* Management BV, STAK A? Capital and any of
their respective affiliates;

“Ordinary Shares” means fully paid up ordinary shares in the capital of the Issuer currently
with no-par value;

“Shareholders” means the holders of Ordinary Shares;
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(i)

“TARGET?2” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express
Transfer payment system which utilises a single shared platform and which was launched on 19
November 2007; and

“TARGET System” means the TARGET2 system.
Change of Control Put Option

If the Noteholder gives notice to the Issuer within 120 calendar days following the date on which
a Change of Control Notice is given to the Noteholders (the “Change of Control Put Exercise
Period”) in respect of any or all of its Notes, the Issuer will, subject as provided below, be
required to redeem the Notes at their Put Redemption Amount on the Change of Control Put
Date together with any accrued interest to but excluding the Change of Control Put Date. The
Issuer may not refuse to redeem the Notes, subject to compliance 